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Below the Surface

Producing More for Less

March 2012

FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS

In the past few years we embarked on number of growth-onented

nitiativrw to advance our strategy of increasmg production while

lowering our cash costs per ounce From starting the LDI mine

exparsion in 2010 to building the Ve77a mine we began to iay the

groundwork to achicve oui vision of becomu mid-tim precious

metals producer which is generally yawed as anrual production of

25uOiri ounces or more While our 5romth plans may have .harged

somewhat by telying less on the production contiibution of our gold

business and prioritizing our world ass palladium osets our

vision has not

Reflecting on the past year we had an extremely active and

productive year characterized by significant investments of $186

million in development and $17 million in exploration These

nvestmerts have laid the groundwork for increased production

starting in 2013 when we expect to reach mid-tier producer status

At LDI which is one of only two prirrary palladium producers in the

world and one-of-a-kind PGE dcposit our pian is straightforward

produce more for less We accomplished significan amount of

development work in zoi to advance the mine expansion and the

progress is clear to see on surface with the new headframe

nfrastructure arid underground witi the development at depth With

an optimized development plan foi our mine expansion we are

optimistic aboot our future prospects as the improved plan seeks to

maximize the mines long-term production and future operating cash

flow potential

The most critical aspect of the expansion and oui key priority for

2012 is file successful installation of the shaft which is on track for

completion at the end of 21112 Jhrough the utilization of the shaft

and high volume bulk nlining method starting in 2013 LDI will

gradually increase its underground mining rate while benefitting from

reduced operating costs with target to produce over 250000

ounces of palladium at cash cost of approximately US$200 per

ounce starting in 2015 that is our goal for LDI and am higl ly

confident that we will accomplish it

And firmly believe that we have only scratched the surface with our

exploration efforts at LDI the positive results from our signficant

85000-metre drill campaign conducted in 2011 underpins the

significant exploration potential of our substantial land package and

supports ny belief that mining will continue at for many years

come The exploration upside is further complemented by excess

capacity in the 1ooo-tonne per day mill arid excess capacity in the

7000-tonnc per day shah Hence our new manfra at lets ill

the shaft and lets fill the mill through exploration success

One of
roy biggest disappontrnents this past year has been the ha .l

of profitability at Sleeping Giant which resulted in the difficult but

necessary decision to close the mine Our vision for Sleeping Giant

was initially conceived as high-grade mine that would expand its

production at depth The high-grade intercepts from our dull

campaigns reaffirmed oui strategy and supported the investment

to expand at depth But in the erd the geology told another story

as we encountered lack of grade continuity in the riariow von

structures such that we were unable to devise an economic

mine plan

15
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Produced 146624 ounces of palladium for total operating margin of US$41.8 million

Modified corporate growth strategy to prioritize NAPs flagship palladium operations resulting in

restructuring of the gold division

Through an investment of $143 million significantly advanced the LDI mine expansion achieving number of

development milestones

Completed over 85000 metres of drilling at LDI that yielded excellent results and increased mine life

Increased the size of LDIs Offset Zone encountering some of the best grades and widths ever reported

Increased IDIs Offset Zone measured and indicated resources by 41% to 2.5 million oz Pd

Increased Vezzas measured and indicated resources by 12% to 321000 oz Au

Developed Vezza to production stage

Corn pleted $22-million flow-through equity financing for exploration expenditures

Completed $72-million term debt financing amid turbulent market conditions

Strengthened technical expertise with new hires

Added to the prestigious SP/TSX Composite Index

If we take step back and reflect on why we initially diversified into

gold it was principally business decision to mitigate our operating

risk by reducing our reliance on single mine and metal during

recessionary market environment that had caused palladium prices to

decline precipitously Also recall that at that time LDI had relatively

short mine life left on paper because
historically there had been

minimal exploration Now fast forward three years later to today after

having made significant investments in exploration we have

renewed vision of LDIs future growth prospects and hence lesser

need to rely on the contribution of our gold business for growth

With the closure of Sleeping Giant this year our plans for the

development of our gold assets have changed as has our vision for

how we perceive our future in the gold business In 2012 and for the

foreseeable future our focus for our gold business will be on steady

cash generation at Vezza With stable gold production during

favourable gold price environment secured workforce and good

prospects for reserve growth through exploration Vezza is well

positioned to be good contributor of cash flow for many years to

support growth in our palladium operations

During year of significant volatility in capital markets the European

debt crisis that unfolded escalated concerns over global economic

slowdown adversely affecting the palladium price and given our

leverage to the metal our share price As fellow shareholders

management is not pleased with the share price performance last

year but believe that through the investments we have made in

the LDI mine expansion the foundation is now in place to secure

our future growth and create value for our shareholders We are very

optimistic about palladiums future price performance which

continues to benefit from favourable supply and demand

fundamentals This outlook fits well as we progress towards realizing

our goal of transitioning into long life low cost producer

of palladium

have personally been looking forward to 2012 the final year of

transition before we can start mining from the new shaft in 2013

Through the significant development milestones achieved in 2011

and through the mine expansion investments that we plan to make

in 2012 by the end of this year NAP will have established solid

foundation for steady production growth for many years to come

We certainly have lot of work ahead of us but we also have

clearly defined strategy and experienced teams in place to

accomplish our objectives Our progress has been fueled by the

strong leadership of our senior management team and the hard work

of our employees and contractors would like to express my

appreciation to our Board of Directors for their ongoing support and

guidance as well as to the people and communities surrounding our

operations near Thunder Bay and in the Abitibi region whose

partnerships have been instrumental in our progress Finally remain

deeply grateful to our shareholders for their continued support and

patience as we complete our transition As fellow shareholders our

senior management team is committed to increasing value for all of

NAPs stakeholders and we are looking forward to productive year

Sincerely

William Biggar

PRESIDENT AND CEO

Annua Report



The Companys flagship asset is the world class Lac

dos lea palladium mine one of only two

primary palladium producers in the world The mne is

located approximately 8g kilometres northwest of the

city of cunder Bay in Ontario and consists of an

open pit an underground mine and large 15oor

tonne per day mill with significant excess capaci

available for future production giowth

commenced production from the open pit in 1993

expanded underground to mine via ramp access fro nì

the Roby Zone in 2006 and in 2010 commenced

major expansion to mine via shaft from the Offst

Zone The most critical aspect of the mine expansion

is the installation of the shaft which is on tiack for

completion at the end of 2012 will allow to

gradually increase its underground milling rate

starting in 2013 while utilizing high volume bulk

mining method

Siik Ito shaft to Ito

795metre level by

year end

Coi plctc development of the

735 metre mi Ovel

Commence set up of mining

stOtms for product oi in the

Offset Zoie

Palladium Mine

Below the Surface

As an established PGM producer

with excess mill capadi and

permits in place we are well

positioned to conver explo athon

success into productior and cast

flow on an accclc ated riehino

hicreasing production

lowering cash costs

Growth ProfiLe

Our lage 15 000 ton per day

mill has sig iificart excess

capacity available for

production growth

l-



hrough the utilization of the shaft and higher mining

rates LDI is expected to bench from increased

productior at reduced cash costs per ounce

tiansforming the mine into long life low cost

producer of palladium

Beyond the mine expansion which is predominately

based on the Offset Zone there remains significant

exploration upside near the mi to where number of

recent discoveries Cowboy Outlaw and Sheriff zones

can potentially increase production at LOb The

positive results from the Companys significant

8ooometre drill campaign cor ducted in zouu

underpi us the significant exploration potonfial of the

33 ooo-acre land PacKage and supports NAPs belief

that mining wdl conti rue at LDI fm many years

10 come

The exploration upside is further complimented by

Al existing infrast ucture and permits the

underutilized II and the stiategic engineering of

the underground development which has potential to

seive the othei nearby underground zones with

minimal additional development As an established

PGM producer with clearly
defined strategy for

growth NAP is well positioned to convert exploration

success into production and cash flow on an

accele ated timeline

Our commitment to sa cty

is ingrained into every wo

task rflectirg he carte we

plce or or employees eel

being and reir utribu on

to he Co npanys gro
vth

With oe uS yea experience

at Dl rod with to pci ci tted

and underutilized su tare

facilities in pace the executior

risc br completdg the LOt mirie

expansio is coisidewbly

Ices ha eenlield pro cc

Our run bcr one priority on

he development side is

corumissior the shad by

the end of uric effectde

corr pleting tie onversion

of uui ii act utturi uVri

to shafWased ope atiori

Globally tbeie am few

avaiiable pal ad cci explora io

nvestme uf opportunities as

att acduc as Lot with ow

oveiall rsk given our existing

intiastructu and
peru

it rig

and with ow geopoliticrt
ink

Schemat of LDPs Underground Depostt and Proposed nfrastructure

SHAFT

795 Metres

345 Metres



HIGHLY LEVERAGED TO THE RISING PRICE

OF PALLADIUM

As one of only two primary palladium pioducers in

the world NAPs plans to significantly increasc

palladiui production while loworing cash costs per

ounce are well timed with thc rising price of

palladium In global environment ot constramed

supply nd increased investment and fabrication

demand the future outlook for continuing increases

in the pnce of palladium remai is strong

CONSTRAINED SUPPLY

Globa mine supply of palladie ra1atvaly small at

only 6.8 million ounces per yew As rare precious

metal there are very few palladium producing

regions worldwide Russia where palladium

produced as byproduct from nickel mining and

South Africa where palladium is produced as

byproduct from platinum mining account foi over

8o% of global production

tdtat at Mine raupmy 65 1St 01 2010

Strong Fabricahon Dem od

l5Moz n2010

significant ncrease in mine supply is unlikely

largely due to political infrastructure and cost

issues iii Pouth Africa declining oalladium

production in Russia and ro new mines on the

horizon in the near term Morcoser it is middy

believed that the Russian governments palladium

stockpile which has historically been an overhang

on the market by viue of its influence on supply

has derreased considerably moving tie palladium

market into deficit starting in 2012

Palladium use in the lewd

sector ms most extensively

been uscd to iiake whi

gold although gisen its close

rescmblance to platinum its

light weight aid pore incentive

compared to other precious

metals is growirg in

popularity
f0r mess weddng

basds and other lewelry pieces

PaLladium Market Overview

UniqueLy positioned to prosper in

suppLyconstrained environment with

exceptional Leverage to higher palladium prices

Palladium is used ii car

exhaust systems to halo

reduce harmful gas emissions

released into the environment

with auto catalytic cosvorts

being ihe main source of

fabrication demand

Palladium is widely used in

electionics because of its

distinctive ability to conduct

dec ririty The most commo

use is in semicorductors which

are used in ci tually every

electronic item

South Africa

42%

Soui cc 8PM Gi mc June 281

IRpo



RSNG DEMAND

NAP also operates the Vezza gold mine located in the

Abitibi region of Quebec adding diversification nto

gold and more importantly second source of cash

flow to fund the Companys aggressive growth

initiatives at its flagship palladium operations

The Vezza property consists of an underground mme

with shaft access to current depth of 740 metres

below surface including substantial underground

and surface infrastructure The deposit was

histoncally subject to extensive exploratton and

development work which NAP continued at an

aggressive pace dunng 2011 to get the mine to be

production ready for 2012

The Company has commenced operations at Vezza

and plans to achieve commercial produclion at rate

of 750 tonnes per day in the second quarto of 2012

Following commencement of commercial productior

NAP expects Vezza will produce approximately 30000

ounces of gold this year Thougb the investments

NAP plans to make in 2012 the Company has

potcntial to further increase future production

at Vezza

With stable gold prod ction during favourable gold

price entaronment secured workforce and good

prospects for reserve growth through exploration

fleaxa is well positioncd to be steady contributor of

cash flow fot many years to support growth the

palladium operations

Expand reser cc resources

nd identity nec .arge
at LDl

Pont rue define the Offset

Zone infill ilfing test ng

extensions towards surface

at deph si

Drill North LDI North VI

Rev Legris ake

At the end ot the day it is

pec pIe
hat build businesses

Our progiess has been tue ed

by entrepie na busi ess

so ture that trarscends team

ol over 400 employees sread

oss our ope thom

Over the
past

coco of years

ae made commitment to misc

our profile
he nvestme

coetmu.tity and hasc succsssfi ly

attracted any nc nsDturioncl

investors We now have ii

analysts aioviding /esearrh

coverage on the Pomp try

and our stitutio ta investo

owneishit arout 70

Although palladium is considered precious metal the

most significant applications of palladium are industrial

in nature The leadmg source of fabrication demand

comes from he automottve sector where palladium

used for the manufacture of catalytic converters to help

reduce toxic emissions into the environment The

resilient growth in vehicle production overlaid with

improving emission standards has resulted in catalytic

Global ght Vehtcle Product on

converters beconting the pnmary demand driver for

pallad um The demand is further strengthened by the

widespread uses of palladium in electonics such as

smartphones and televisions and by other now

industnal uses of the metal such as for jewelry and for

investment through illadium holdings in Exchange

Traded Funds

/0 000 rr elms of drilling

pffnn

Vezza Gold Mine
Well positioned to be steady

contributor of cash ftow

Rcpx



We recognize that environmental management and

the protection of the environment are among the

highest corporate priorities at all stages of our

operations Through the vigorous tests that ensure

our environmental compliance to the formal

environmental management systems in place we

always strive to minimize our environmental impact

HEALTH SAFETY

We are committed to ensuring safe working

environment for all of our employees Key features

ensuring safety in our workplace include our

dedicated team of managers and supervisors who

make safety an integral part of each workday our

Joint Health and Safety Committee which focuses on

identifying safety concerns and making

improvements crew safety meetings held to address

worker concerns and communicate safe work issues

procedures that are developed and communicated

for activities that may have related hazards

fully-trained Mine Rescue team that is always

available to respond to any emergency situation use

of the Common Core modular training systems

and alliances with groups such as FM Global

and the Electrical Safety Authority who inspect

our facilities to provide insight into any

opportunities for improvement

We are responsible to the communities in which we

operate and are committed to our role as responsible

corporate citizen In keeping with this philosophy North

American Palladium always strives to be good

neighbour and employer to create economic prosperity

for its stakeholders and whenever possible we give

preference to local and regional suppliers when

purchasing goods and services

ETHICAL RESPONSIBLE

BUSINESS CONDUCT

North American Palladium always strives to maintain

high standards of integrity and accountability in

conducting business We have adopted Code of

Conduct that is applicable to all directors officers

employees and contractors As part of our

commitment to ethical and responsible business

conduct we are also committed to maintaining

accountability for our accounting internal controls

and auditing processes It is also our policy to seek

to ensure compliance with all applicable legal and

regulatory requirements relating to our business

Corporate Social Responsibility
We are committed to achieving operational

excellence in all aspects of our business

We always meet legislated

environmental requirements

and strive to surpass them

with vigorous testing and

strict internal environmental

management system

We successfully

decreased our Greenhouse

Gas Emissions at LDI and

achieved excellent results in

our Water Management testing

in 2011

We are recycling 100% of the

waste water generated by

LDIs milling process reducing

our fresh water intake

Air emissions at LDI

are significantly below

regulatory requirements

typically
between o-3o%

of the limit outlined by the

Ministry of Environment

ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP COMMUNITY

In 2011 we updated our Code

of Conduct and implemented

third-party
whistleblower hotline

to maintain our high standards

for best practices ethics and

corporate governance

Annual Report



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTRODUCTION

Unless the context suggests otherwise references to NAP or the Company or similar terms refer to North American Palladium Ltd and

its subsidiaries LDI refers to Lac des ties Mines Ltd and Cadiscor refers to Cadiscor Resources Inc On March 42011 the name

Cadiscor Resources Inc was changed to NAP Quebec Mines Ltd

The following is managements discussion and analysis MDA of the financial condition and results of operations to enable readers of the

Companys consolidated financial statements and related notes to assess material changes in financial condition and results of operations for

the year ended December 312011 compared to those of the respective periods in the prior year This MDA has been prepared as of

February 23 2012 and is intended to supplement and complement the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended

December 31 2011 collectively the Financial Statements Readers are encouraged to review the Financial Statements in conjunction with

their review of this MDA and the most recent Form 40-F/Annual Information Form on file with the U.S Securities and Exchange Commission

SEC and Canadian provincial securities regulatory authorities available at www.sec.gov and www.sedar.com respectively

All amounts are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted and all references to production ounces refer to payable production

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

Certain information contained in this MDA constitutes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the

United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Canadian securities laws All statements other than statements of historical

fact are forward-looking statements The words expect believe anticipate contemplate target plan may will intend estimate and

similar expressions identify forward-looking statements Forward-looking statements included in this MDA include without limitation

information as to our strategy plans or future financial or operating performance such as the Companys expansion plans project timelines

production plans projected cash flows or expenditures operating cost estimates mining or milling methods projected exploration results and

other statements that express managements expectations or estimates of future performance The Company cautions the reader that such

forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risk factors that may cause the actual results to be materially different from those

expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements Such risk factors include but are not limited to the possibility
that metal prices and

foreign exchange rates may fluctuate inherent risks associated with exploration development mining and processing including environmental

hazards uncertainty of mineral reserves and resources the risk that the Company may not be able to obtain financing the possibility that the

Lac des lies mine and Vezza project may not perform as planned changes in legislation taxation regulations or political and economic

developments in Canada and abroad employee relations litigation
and the risks associated with obtaining necessary licenses and permits For

more details on these and other risk factors see the Companys most recent Form 40-F/Annual Information Form on file with the U.S Securities

and Exchange Commission and Canadian provincial securities regulatory authorities Forward-looking statements are necessarily based upon

number of factors and assumptions that while considered reasonable by management are inherently subject to significant business economic

and competitive uncertainties and contingencies The factors and assumptions contained in this MDA which may prove to be incorrect

include but are not limited to that metal prices and exchange rates between the Canadian and United States dollar will be consistent with the

Companys expectations that there will be no material delays affecting operations or the timing of ongoing development projects that prices for

key mining and construction supplies including labour costs will remain consistent with the Companys expectations and that the Companys

current estimates of mineral reserves and resources are accurate The forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance

The Company disclaims any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as result of new information events or

otherwise except as expressly required bylaw Readers are cautioned not to put undue reliance on these forward-looking statements

CAUTIONARY NOTE TO U.S INVESTORS CONCERNING MINERAL RESERVES AND RESOURCES

Mineral reserve and mineral resource information contained herein has been calculated in accordance with National Instrument 43-101--Standards

of Disclosure for Mineral Projects as required by Canadian provincial securities regulatory authorities Canadian standards differ significantly from

the requirements of the SEC and mineral reserve and mineral resource information contained herein is not comparable to similar information

disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the SEC While the terms measured indicated and inferred mineral resources are required

pursuant to National Instrument 43-101 the SEC does not recognize such terms U.S investors should understand that inferred mineral resources

have great amount of uncertainty as to their existence and great uncertainty as to their economic and legal feasibility In addition U.S investors

are cautioned not to assume that any part or all of NAPs mineral resources constitute or will be converted into reserves For more detailed

description of the key assumptions parameters and methods used in calculating NAPs mineral reserves and mineral resources see NAPs most

recent Annual Information Form/Form 40-F on file with Canadian provincial securities regulatory authorities and the SEC

OUR BUSINESS

North American Palladium Ltd NAP is an established precious metals producer that has been operating its flagship Lac des lies LOl
mine located in Ontario Canada since 1993 LDI is one of only two primary producers of palladium in the world and is currently undergoing

major expansion to increase production and reduce cash cost per ounce1 NAP also operates the Vezza gold mine located in the Abitibi

region of Quebec

The Company is expanding the LDI mine to transition from mining via ramp access to mining via shaft while utilizing high volume bulk

mining method The shaft is targeted to be commissioned at the end of 2012 which will allow LDI to increase its underground mining rate

and palladium production It is expected that the mine expansion will transform LDI into long life low cost producer of palladium The

Vezza gold mine which is targeted to commence commercial production in the second quarter of 2012 is expected to provide an additional

source of cash flow to fund growth in the Companys palladium initiatives

Non-IFAS measure Please refer to Non-IFRS Measures on pages 31-33

Annual Report



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Company has significant exploration upside near the LDI mine where number of growth targets have been identified and is engaged

in substantial exploration program aimed at increasing its palladium reserves and resources As NAP pursues its organic growth strategy

through the LDI mine expansion exploration will continue to be key focus for the Company for many years to come As an established

palladium-platinum group metal PGM producer with excess mill capacity on permitted property NAP has potential to convert

exploration success into production and cash flow on an accelerated timeline

With an experienced senior managementteam strong balance sheet of over $108 million in working capital including $51 million in cash

as at December 31 2011 NAP is well positioned to pursue its growth strategy NAP trades on the TSX under the symbol PDL and on the

NYSE Amex under the symbol PAL The Companys common shares are included in the SP/TSX Composite Index

KEY HIGHLIGHTS

expressed in thousands of dollars except cash cost and per share amounts 2011 2010 2009

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Revenue 170472 107098 4019

Unit sales

Palladium oz 146.457 95057

Gold oz 24275 21573

Platinum oz 9133 4894

Nickel Ib 814551 395622

Copper lb 1593479 658013

Earnings

Net loss 65154 29409 30014

Net loss per share 0.40 0.21 0.29

Adjusted net income loss1 723 6720 16816

EBITDA1 44786 17073 28465

Adjusted EBITDA1 21091 19056 15267

Cash flow provided by used in operations

Cash flow provided by used in operations before changes in

non-cash working capitalt
6122 12029 27656

Cash flow provided by used in operations before changes in

non-cash working capital per share1 0.04 0.08 0.27

Capital spending 185633 49364 12205

OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS

Production

Palladium oz 146624 95057

Goldoz 21890 21718

Platinum oz 9143 4894

Nickel lb 816037 395622

Copper Ib 1596185 658013

Realized metal prices

Palladium 733 665

Gold 1534 1208

Cash cost per ounce1

Palladium US$ 448 283

Gold US$1 1819 1549

2009 amounts have been prepared under Canadian GAAP and therefore may not be comparable to the 2011 and 2010 information

Non-/ERS measure Please refer to Non-IFRS Measures on pages 31-33

10 Annual Report



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at December31 As at December31 As at December31

expressed in thousands of dollars
2011 2010 2009

Networking capital 108432 169559 114507

Cash balance 50935 75159 98255

Shareholders equity 268996 290450 192261

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Financial Highlights

Revenue for the year ended December 31 2011 was $170.5 million compared to $107.1 million in the prior year Net loss for the year

including non-cash gold asset impairment charge of $49.2 million was $65.2 million or $0.40 per share and EBITDA1 was negative

$44.8 million In 2010 the net loss was $29.4 million or $0.21 per share and EBITDA1 was negative $17.1 million For 2011 adjusted net

income1 was $0.7 million and adjusted EBITDA1 was $21.1 million compared to adjusted net income1 of $6.7 million and adjusted EBITDA1

of $19.1 million in the prior year The Company generated cash from operating activities of $6.1 million before changes in non-cash

working capital1

Strong Balance Sheet

As at December 31 2011 the Company had approximately $108.4 million in working capital including $50.9 million cash on hand Subsequent

to year end the Company completed $15.0 million capital lease facility to fund equipment for the LDI mine expansion of which $11.1 million

has been utilized

Investment in Growth

For the year ended December 31 2011 the Company invested $16.7 million in exploration activities $10.0 million at its palladium operations

and $6.7 million at its gold operations and $185.6 million in development expenditures $148.3 million at its palladium operations of which

$142.1 million was invested in the LDI mine expansion and $37.3 million at its gold operations

LDI Mine Palladium Production

The LDI mine produced 146624 ounces of payable palladium for the year ended December 31 2011 During the year 1830234 tonnes of ore

were mined with 1689781 tonnes of ore processed by the LDI mill The mill processed an average of 10675 tonnes per operating day at an

average palladium head grade of 3.70 grams per tonne with palladium recovery of 78.3% For 2011 LDIs cash cost per ounce1 net of

by-product credits was US$448

Production at the LDI mine in 2011 included the blending of higher grade underground ore 988502 tonnes with an average palladium grade

of 5.7 grams per tonne with lower grade surface ore 841732 tonnes with an average palladium grade of 1.8 grams per tonne

LDI Mine Expansion Update

The Company is currently expanding the LDI mine to transition from mining via ramp access to mining via shaft while utilizing high volume

bulk mining method The objective of the mine expansion is to increase future production and lower cash cost per ounce1 During 2011 the

Company made significant progress in advancing the critical aspects of the mine expansion which remains on schedule to commission the

shaft at the end of 2012

The shaft with name plate capacity of approximately 7000 tonnes per day will allow LDI to increase its underground mining rate to 3500

tonnes per day atthe beginning of 2013 and then gradually increase the rate during 2013 and 2014 to 5500 tonnes per day starting in 2015 at

which point the Company is targeting production to exceed 250000 ounces at cash cost of approximately US$200 per ounce based on

current by-product metal prices

2011 mine expansion development highlights include

Constructing the head frame hoist room and electrical substation

Completing the shaft raise bore pilot
hole and primary ventilation raise bore

Commencing the sub-collar work

Completing the pilot hole for the backfill aggregate raise to the surface

Advancing the ramp to depth of 795 metres from surface and

Developing the 735-metre mine level in preparation for production

In the year ended December 31 2011 $143.1 million was invested in the mine expansion including finance leases of $2.6 million and

excluding capitalized interest of $1.6 million In 2012 capital expenditures for the mine expansion are budgeted at $116.0 million

Development work in 2012 will be focused on completing the surface construction activities advancing underground development and

completing the shaft sinking to the 795-metre level by year end

2009 amounts have been prepared
under Canadian GAAP and therefore may not be comparable to the 2011 and 2010 information

Non-/PBS measure Please refer to Non-/PBS Measures on pages 31-33
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Vezza Gold Mine Production and Development Update

During 2011 the Company made good progress in the development work at its Vezza gold mine and at the end of the year commenced

processing Vezzas bulk sample at the nearby Sleeping Giant mill Accordingly the Company expects commercial production to commence

at mining rate of 750 tonnes per day in the second quarter of 2012 The Company forecasts Vezza will produce approximately 30000

ounces of gold at cash cost of approximately US$1150 per ounce for the remainder of 2012

Production will come from blend of long hole and alimak mining methods The Company has entered into contract with Promec Mining

Inc Vol dOr mining contractor to provide the mining workforce at Vezza The total workforce is expected to be in the range of 150 people

Vezzas ore will be trucked to the Sleeping Giant mill approximately 85 kilometres away which is expected to process an average head

grade of 5.2 grams per tonne with gold recovery of 88%

In 2011 the Company invested $28.2 million to advance Vezza to production and plans to invest an additional $17.0 million in 2012 to

continue underground development of the mine and to increase production in 2013 The capital expenditures in 2012 consist of development

work associated with the underground infrastructure such as drifts and ore passes drilling costs as well as new camp for the

workforce backfill cement plant rock conveyor and pump and other required equipment

Sleeping Giant Mine Closure

The Company announced on January 17 2012 that it is discontinuing production at the Sleeping Giant mine due to its insufficient operating margin

After reviewing various mining scenarios the Company concluded that mining would likely continue at high costs given the lack of grade

continuity with insufficient operating margin to justify continuing operations The Company therefore ceased mining operations at Sleeping

Giant and has restructured the gold division resulting in non-cash impairment charge on its gold assets of $49.2 million

The Sleeping Giant mill will continue to process ore from the Vezza mine The mill has capacity of 900 tonnes per day which will be

sufficient to process Vezzas ore

In 2011 the Sleeping Giant mine produced 14623 ounces of gold During the year 73701 tonnes of ore were hoisted from Sleeping Giant

with 74154 tonnes processed by the mill at an average head grade of 6.36 grams per tonne with gold recovery of 96.4% For the year

ended December 31 2011 Sleeping Giants cash cost per ounce1 was US$1819

Exploration

In 2011261 holes
totalling 84686 metres were drilled on the LDI property Underground drilling accounted for 41343 metres 205 holes of

which approximately 13290 metres 66 holes were to support mine operations Drilling from surface accounted for the remaining 43343

metres 56 holes The objective of NAPs 2011 exploration program was to expand the Offset Zone improve knowledge of the Offset Zone

mineralization through infill drilling and to identify potential surface targets

Following the exploration success achieved in the past few years the Company will continue to invest in exploration to expand the reserves and

resources at LDI and to identify new targets The Companys 2012 exploration expenditures are expected to be approximately $16 million comprised

of approximately 70000 metres of drilling of which 64000 metres will be at LDI and 6000 metres at the Companys other nearby properties

Approximately $10 million of the $16 million in 2012 expenditures 55000 of the 64000 metres to be drilled at LDI will be in connection with the mine

expansion and is included in the $116 million capital expenditure budget forthe mine expansion leaving balance of $6 million that will be expensed

The main focus of the 2012 exploration program will be underground exploration at LDI targeting the Offset Zone to conduct infill drilling as

well as to test extensions of the Offset Zone mineralization towards surface at depth and to the south In addition drilling on surface will be

conducted at North LDI the North VT-Rim and Legris Lake

In 2011 376 holes totalling 79434 metres were drilled in the gold division which included approximately 36746 metres of drilling at Sleeping

Giant and 79434 metres of surface and development drilling at Vezza In 2012 the Company intends to do minimal exploration activities on

its non-producing gold properties

Outlook

The supply and demand fundamentals of palladium remain strong and most forecasters continue to have an optimistic outlook supporting

factor behind the positive outlook for the metals future performance is the resilient industrial demand increasing investment demand and

constrained global supply

In 2012 the Company plans to focus on the following milestones

Commissioning of the LDI mine shaft target end of Q4 2012

Completing the reserve and resource update for LDI 02 2012

Achieving commercial production at the Vezza mine 02 2012

Completing the reserve and resource update for Vezza 02 2012 and

Expanding reserves and resources at LDI through continuing exploration

Non-/FRS measure P/ease refer to NonIFRS Measures on pages 31-33
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Selected Annual Information

expressed in thousands of dollars except per share amounts

For the year ended December 31 2010 revenue was $107.1 million compared to $4.0 million in the prior year Income from mining operations

for the year ended December 31 2010 was $8.1 million compared to loss in the prior year of $6.2 million Production from LDI was

successfully restarted in April 2010 after being temporarily placed on care and maintenance in October 2008 due to low metal prices

Metal Prices
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Palladium Price US$1 Troy oz

During 2011 the palladium price averaged US$733 per ounce ranging from low of US$565 to high of US$859 per ounce The global

economic uncertainty surrounding the Eurozone Sovereign debt issues resulted in volatility
for all commodities but particularly affected the

more industrial of the precious metals such as palladium with concerns of potential global economic slowdown These concerns were

reflected in the liquidation of almost 700000 ounces of palladium in ETF holdings which was primary factor in the declining price of

palladium towards the end of 2011 Amid global economic uncertainty in Europe and the U.S the price of palladium continued to show

strong support above US$550 per ounce level at the end of 2011 With confidence in European financial markets expected to improve

coupled with the continuing strength in global vehicle production this supports future increases in the price of palladium from its current

level of around US$724 per ounce as of February 22 2012
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2011 2010 2009

Revenue 170472 107098 4019

Gold assets impairment charge 49210

Income loss from mining operations 33081 8088 6232

Net loss 65154 29409 30014

Net loss per share Basic and diluted 0.40 0.21 0.29

Cash flow provided by used in operations prior
to

changes in non-cash working capital1
6122 12029 27656

Total assets 416045 348437 221777

Obligations under finance leases 4532 2391 1134

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During 2011 the average Canadian dollar exchange rate was $1.01 ranging from low of $0.95 to high of $1.06 to the U.S dollar At the end

of 2011 the U.S dollar rallied as investors sought out safe-haven assets like U.S treasury bills The Canadian dollar closed at $0.98 cents to

the U.S dollar compared to $1.00 at the end of the 2010 As of February 22 2012 the Canadian dollar exchange rate was $1.00

Gold Price US$1 Troy oz

2.000

500

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

During 2011 the average price of gold was US$1706 per ounce ranging from low of US$1488 to high of US$1900 per ounce The price of

gold was US$1776 as of February 22 2012

NAP Realized Metal Prices and Exchange Rates

2011 2010

Palladium US$/oz 733 665

Platinum US$/oz 1725 1690

GoldUS$/oz 1534 1208

NjickelUS$/lb 10.52 10.11

CopperUS$/lb 4.06 3.58

Average exchange rate CDN$1 US$ 1.01 0.97

Realized metal prices represent the weighted average metal prices received based on cash settlement of amounts owing from smelters for

final outturn of metals during the year

Spot Metal Prices and Exchange Rates

For comparison purposes the following table details recorded spot metal prices and exchange rates

Dec.31 Sep.30 Jun.30 Mar.31 Dec.31 Sep.30 Jun.30 Mar.31

2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010 2010

Palladium US$/oz 636 614 761 766 791 573 446 479

GoldUS$/oz 1575 1620 1506 1439 1410 1307 1244 1116

PlatinumUS$/oz 1381 1511 1722 1773 1731 1662 1532 1649

NickelUS$/lb 8.28 8.30 10.48 11.83 11.32 10.57 8.78 11.33

CopperUS$/lb 3.43 3.24 4.22 4.26 4.38 3.65 2.95 3.56

Exchange rate

Bankof Canada
CDN$1 US$ US$0.98 US$0.96 US$1.04 US$1.03 US$1.01 US$0.97 US$0.94 US$0.98

Based on the London Metal Exchange
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PALLADIUM OPERATIONS FINANCIAL OPERATING DEVELOPMENT RESULTS

The LDI mine consists of an open pit an underground mine and mill with design capacity of approximately 15000 tonnes per day The

primary deposits on the property are the Roby Zone and the Offset Zone both disseminated magmatic palladium-platinum group metal deposits

Underground ore production from the LDI mine is operating at approximately 2100 tonnes per day seven days week on two 12-hour shifts

per day The Company has workforce of approximately 270 people at LDI and its collective agreement with the United Steelworkers is

effective until May 31 2012

Financial Results

Income from mining operations for the Palladium operations is summarized in the following table

2011 2010

Revenue 143659 84813

Mining operating expenses

Production costs 89657 46269

Smelting refining and freight costs 9206 4721

Royalty expense 5819 4202

Inventory impairment charge 1352

Depreciation and amortization 9961 5396

Gain on disposal of equipment 923 268

Total mining operating expenses 115072 60320

Income from mining operations 28587 24493

The Company has included income from mining operations as an additional IFRS measure as the Company believes it provides the user with

information on the actual results of operations for each reporting segment

Revenue

Revenue is affected by sales volumes commodity prices and currency exchange rates Metal sales for LDI are recognized in revenue at

provisional prices when delivered to smelter for treatment or designated shipping point Final pricing is not determined until the refined

metal is sold by the smelter which in the case of LDI base metals is three months and precious metals is six months after delivery to the

smelter These final pricing adjustments can result in additional revenues in rising commodity price environment and reductions to

revenue in declining commodity price environment Similarly weakening in the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S dollar will result in

additional revenues and strengthening in the Canadian dollar will result in reduced revenues For past production delivered to the smelter

the Company enters into financial contracts to mitigate the smelter agreements provisional pricing exposure to rising or declining palladium

prices and an appreciating Canadian dollar These financial contracts represent 69500 ounces of palladium as at December31 2011 and

mature from January 2012 through June 2012 at an average price of $697 per ounce of palladium For substantially all of the palladium

delivered to the customer under the smelter agreement the quantities and timing of settlement specified in the financial contracts match

final pricing settlement periods The palladium financial contracts are being recognized on mark-to-market basis as an adjustment to

revenue The fair value of these contracts at December 31 2011 was $2.0 million included in accounts receivable December 31 2010

negative $1 1.1 million

Sales volumes of LDIs major commodities are set out in the table below

2011 2010

Sales volumes

Palladium oz 146457 95057

Gold oz 7256 4023

Platinum oz 9133 4894

Nickel lbs 814551 395622

Copper Ibs 1593479 658013

Cobalt Ibs 20839 9801

Silver oz 3752 1619
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Revenue from metal sales from the Palladium operations is set out below

2011 2010

Revenue before pricing adjustments 148480 77429

Pricing adjustments 4821 7384

Revenue after pricing adjustments 143659 84813

Revenue by metal

Palladium 104004 63351

Gold 11971 5640

Platinum 13867 8659

Nickel 7585 4283

Copper 5804 2659

Cobalt 304 171

Silver 124 50

143659 84813

For the year ended December 31 2011 revenue before pricing adjustments was $148.5 million compared to $77.4 million in 2010 when we

operated for nine months 2011 reflected higher realized palladium prices and an increase in the quantity of palladium ounces sold

Operating Expenses

For the year ended December 31 2011 operating expenses were $115.1 million compared to $60.3 million in the prior year period when we

operated for nine months The increase in operating expenses in 2011 result from processing lower grade stockpiles blended with the higher

grade underground ore as well as higher contractor costs to process surface stockpiles partially offset by electricity rebates

Cash cost per ounce1 of palladium sold was US$448 for the year ended December 31 20112010 US$283

During the second quarter of 2011 the Company was advised of its inclusion in the Ontario governments Northern Industrial
Electricity

Rate

NIER program to receive electricity price rebates of two cents per kilowatt hour The NIER program is three-year initiative designed to

help large industries in Northern Ontario improve energy efficiency and sustainability It is available to industrial facilities that consume

greater than 50000 megawatt hours of
electricity per year The Companys commitment to the preparation and implementation of

comprehensive energy management plans qualified the Company to participate For the year ended December 31 2011 rebate of

$4.2 million was received including retroactive rebate of $1.9 million for LOIs electricity costs for the period of April 2010 through

March 31 2011 The rebate was treated as reduction of operating expenses LDI will be entitled to receive additional quarterly rebates

until March 2013 if it continues to meet eligibility criteria which the Company anticipates will be the case

Smelting refining and freight costs for the year ended December 31 2011 were $9.2 million compared to $4.7 million in 2010 The increase

over the prior year is primarily due to increased production volume in 2011 and increased freight and smelter costs on unit basis

For the year ended December 31 2011 royalty expense was $5.8 million compared to $4.2 million in the prior year Royalty expense was

higher in the current year due to higher production volume and increased revenue

Depreciation and amortization at the LDI mine for the year ended December31 2011 was $10.0 million compared to $5.4 million for the year

ended December 31 2010 The increase over the prior year is due to higher production volume and an increase in depreciable assets in 2011

For the year ended December 31 2011 an impairment charge of $1.4 million was recorded on the write down of obsolete supplies inventory

2010 nil

Non-IFRS measure P/ease refer to Non-/ERS Measures on pages 1-33
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Operating Results

The key operating results for the Palladium operations are set out in the following table

2011 2010

Tonnes of ore milled 1689781 649649

Production

Palladium oz 146624 95057

Gold oz 1267 4023

Platinum oz 9143 4894

Nickel Ibs 816031 395622

Copper Ibs 1596185 658013

Palladium head grade glt 3.70 6.06

Palladium recoveries 78.34 80.80

Tonnes of ore mined 1830234 615926

Total cost per tonne milled 54 62

Cash cost$USD1 448 283

LDI Mine

2011 production atthe LDI mine included the blending of higher grade underground ore with lower-grade surface sources During the year

ended December 31 2011 1830234 tonnes of ore was extracted of which 988502 tonnes came from underground sources with an average

palladium grade of 5.7 grams per tonne 2010615926 tonnes with an average palladium grade of 6.2 grams per tonne and 841132 tonnes

from surface sources with an average palladium grade of 1.8 grams per tonne 2010 nil

LB/Mill

For the year ended December 31 2011 the LDI mill processed 1689781 tonnes of ore at an average of 10675 tonnes per operating day

producing 146624 ounces of payable palladium at an average palladium head grade of 3.7 grams per tonne with palladium recovery of

78.3% and mill availability of 91.7% 2010649649 tonnes processed producing 95057 ounces at an average grade of 6.1 grams per tonne

with palladium recovery of 80.8% Production costs per tonne of ore milled were $54 for the year ended December 31 20112010 $62

per tonne of ore milled To improve efficiencies and minimize processing costs the mill is operating on batch basis with two-week

operating and two-week non-operating schedule

LDIs cash cost per ounce1 was US$448 per ounce 2010 US$283 per ounce when production consisted of only higher-grade

underground ore

LDI Mine Expansion

The Company is currently expanding the LDI mine to transition from mining via ramp access to mining via shaft while utilizing high volume

bulk mining method The objective of the mine expansion is to increase future production at lower cash cost per ounce1 During the year

the Company made significant progress in advancing the critical aspects of the mine expansion and remains on schedule to commission the

shaft at the end of 2012

The shaft which will have name plate capacity of approximately 7000 tonnes per day will allow LDI to increase its underground mining

rate to 3500 tonnes per day at the beginning of 2013 then gradually increase the rate during 2013 and 2014 to 5500 tonnes per day starting

in 2015 at which point the Company is targeting production to exceed 250000 ounces at cash cost of approximately US$200 per ounce

based on current by-product metal prices

Non-IFRS measure Please refer to Non-IERS Measures on pages 1-33
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The 2011 mine expansion development highlights include

Constructing the head frame hoist room and electrical substation

Completing the shaft raise bore pilot
hole and primary ventilation raise bore

Commencing the sub-collar work

Completing the pilot
hole for the backfill aggregate raise to the surface

Advancing the ramp to depth of 795 metres from surface and

Developing the 735-metre mine level in preparation for production

In the year ended December 31 2011 $143.1 million was invested in the mine expansion including finance leases of $2.6 million and

excluding capitalized interest of $1.6 million In 2012 capital expenditures for the mine expansion are budgeted at $116.0 million

Development work in 2012 will be focused on the following

Completing the surface construction activities

Completing the shaft sinking to the 795-metre level by year end

Completing development of the 735-metre mine level and

Commencing set up of mining stopes for production in the Offset Zone

GOLD OPERATIONS FINANCIAL OPERATING DEVELOPMENT RESULTS

The Company also owns the Vezza gold mine located 233 kilometres north of Val dOr Quebec The Vezza mine which is targeted to

commence commercial production in the second quarter of 2012 is expected to provide an additional source of cash flow to fund growth in

the Companys palladium initiatives

The Sleeping Giant gold mine consists of narrow vein underground mine and mill with capacity of 900 tonnes per operating day

Subsequentto December 31 2011 the Company announced the closure of the Sleeping Giant mine due to its insufficient operating margin

see Sleeping Giant mine below

Financial Results

Income from mining operations for the Gold operations is summarized in the following table

2011 2010

Revenue 26813 22285

Mining operating expenses

Production costs 31601 28440

Smelting refining and freight costs 54 58

Depreciation and amortization 1460 10066

Gold assets impairment charge 49210

Loss gain on disposal of equipment 27

Total mining operating expenses 88298 38562

Loss from mining operations 61485 16277

The Company has included income from mining operations as an additional IFRS measure as the Company believes it provides the user with

information of the actual results of operations for each reporting segment

Revenue

Metal sales for the Sleeping Giant gold mine are recognized at the time the title is transferred to third party Sales volumes are set out in

the table below

2011 2010

Sales volumes

Gold oz 17019 17550

Silver oz 31150 24000
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For the year ended December 31 2011 revenue was $26.8 million reflecting gold sales of 17019 ounces with realized price of US$1531

per ounce compared to $22.3 million in the prior year with gold sales of 17550 ounces with realized price of US$1204 per ounce

Operating Expenses

For the year ended December 31 2011 total production costs at the Sleeping Giant gold mine were $31.6 million as compared to $28.4 million

in 2010 due to higher inventory adjustments in the currentyear Cash cost per ounce1 was US$1819 for the year ended December 31 2011

compared to US$1549 per ounce in 2010 due to higher labour costs

Depreciation and amortization at the Sleeping Giant gold mine was $7.5 million for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to

$10.1 million in the prior year due to fewer ounces produced in the current year period

As result of the Companys decision to cease mining operations at Sleeping Giant and restructure the gold division gold asset

impairment charge of $49.2 million was recorded at December 31 2011

Operating Results

The key operating results for the Gold operations are set out in the following table

2011 2010

Tonnes of ore milled 14154 93296

Production

Gold ozl 14623 17695

Gold head grade g/tl
6.36 5.90

Gold recoveries 96.38 95.50

Tonnes of ore hoisted 73701 95261

Totalcostpertonnemilled 426 305

Cash cost$USD1 1819 1549

Sleeping Giant Mine

For the year ended December 31 2011 73701 tonnes of ore were hoisted from the underground mine with an average gold grade of

6.36 grams per tonne 201095261 tonnes hoisted with average grade of 5.90 grams pertonne

During 2011 mining was focused above the 975-metre elevation mining the lower grade remnant reserves left behind by the previous

operator and strived to reduce operating costs to achieve break-even cash flow while the Company continued its development at depth

After reviewing various mining scenarios the Company concluded that mining would likely continue at high costs given the lack of grade

continuity with insufficient operating margin to justify continuing operations The Company has therefore ceased mining operations at

Sleeping Giant on January 17 2012 and has restructured the gold division resulting in non-cash impairment charge on its gold assets of

$49.2 million

Sleeping Giant Mill

For the year ended December 31 2011 the mill processed 74154 tonnes of ore producing 14623 ounces of gold at an average gold head

grade of 6.36 grams per tonne with gold recovery of 96.4% and mill
availability

of 98.9% 201093296 tonnes processed producing

17695 ounces at an average grade of 5.90 grams per tonne

Sleeping Giants cash cost per ounce1 was US$1819 for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to US$1549 per ounce for the year

ended December 31 2010 Production costs per tonne of ore milled were $426 for the year ended December 31 20112010 $305 per tonne

At December31 2011 the mill contained approximately 2742 ounces of gold that was included in inventory and valued at net realizable

value as it had not been sold by the end of the period including 1224 ounces of gold processed from Vezza

The Sleeping Giant mill has rated capacity of 900 tonnes per day and was operating at approximately 838 tonnes per operating day for the

year ended December 31 2011 Despite the closure of the Sleeping Giant mine the mill will continue to operate to process ore from the

nearby Vezza mine that is expected to reach commercial production in the second quarter of 2012

In 2011 the Company invested $1.8 million to establish platform for potential future expansion of the mill which includes the detailed

engineering work the geotechnical tests building and foundation designs receiving the required construction permits materials

procurement and refurbishing the rod mill and jaw crusher

Non-/FRS measure Please refer to Non-IFRS Measures on pages 1-33
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Vezza Gold Project

In 2011 the Company made good progress in the development work at Vezza to establish the mine for production in 2012 During the fourth

quarter the Company commenced processing Vezzas bulk sample at the Sleeping Giant mill returning results that were within

managements expectations For the year ended December 31 20118832 tonnes of mineralization were hoisted from the underground mine

for the bulk sample producing 1141 ounces of gold at an average gold grade of 446 grams per tonne The Company expects commercial

production to commence at Vezza with mining rate of 750 tonnes per day at the beginning of the second quarter of 2012 Until the mine

reaches commercial production all costs associated with achievement of commercial production net of preproduction revenue from gold

sales are capitalized For the remainder of 2012 the Company forecasts Vezza will produce approximately 30000 ounces of gold at cash

cost per ounce1 of approximately US$1150

Production at Vezza will come from blend of long hole and alimak mining methods The Company has entered into contract with Promec

Mining Inc Val dOr mining contractor to provide the mining workforce at Vezza The total workforce is expected to be in the range of

150 people Vezzas ore will be trucked to the Sleeping Giant mill approximately 85 kilometres away by paved road which is expected to

process an average head grade of 5.2 grams per tonne with gold recovery of 88%

In 2011 the Company invested $28.2 million to advance Vezza to production and plans to invest an additional $17.0 million in 2012 to

continue underground development of the mine and to increase production in 2013 The capital expenditures in 2012 consist of development

work associated with the underground infrastructure such as drifts and ore passes drilling costs as well as new camp for the

workforce backfill cement plant rock conveyor and pump and other required equipment

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS

General and administration

The Companys general and administration expenses for the year ended December 31 2011 were $12.3 million compared to $10.6 million an

increase of $1.7 million The increase is due to additional administration costs from increased activities and staff at the Corporate head office

Exploration

Exploration expenditures for the year ended December 31 2011 were $16.7 million compared to $30.1 million in the prior year The decrease

reflects $9.2 million of exploration costs capitalized to the mine expansion for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to $2.3 million in

the prior year Exploration expenditures are comprised as follows

2011 2010

Palladium operations

Ontario exploration projects 9833 13998

Gold operations

Sleeping Giant mine property 3638 3437

Other Quebec exploration projects 5441 11768

Exploration tax credits 2350 201

6729 15004

Corporate and other 105 1124

Total exploration expenditures 16667 30126

Ontario axploration projects are comprised of LOl exploration projects including the CowboV Outlaw and Sheriff zones West North VT Rim and the Legris Lake

option and Shebandowan

Other Quebec exploration projects are comprised of the Vezza Fiord/n DiscoverV Dormex MontbraV l-Iarricana Cameron Sheac Laflamme and Florence properties

On February 18 2011 the Company completed flow-through share offering of 2667000 flow-through common shares and is required to

spend gross proceeds of $22.0 million on Canadian exploration expenses prior to December 31 2012 For the year ended December 31 2011

$22.0 million was spent fulfilling the spending requirement

Interest and other costs income

Interest and other income for the year ended December31 2011 was $0.2 million compared to $2.1 million in the
prior year 2011 includes

gain on renouncement of flow-through expenditures of $1.8 million and $1.0 million of interest income partially offset by financing costs of

$0.7 million accretion expense of $0.8 million and other items of $1.0 million The prior year balance includes interest income of $2.9 million

partially
offset by accretion expense of $0.2 million and interest expense of $0.4 million

Non-/FRS measure Please refer to Non-IFRS Measures on pages 31-33
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Income and Mining Tax Expense Recovery

The income and mining tax expense recovery for the years ended December31 are provided in the table below

2011 2010

LDI palladium mine

Ontario transitional tax debit credit 2387 280

Corporate minimum tax credit
75

Ontario resource allowance recovery
315

2387 670

Sleeping Giant gold mine and Vezza Gold Project

Quebec mining duties expense recovery 1775 1246

Quebec income tax recovery
107 26

Mining interests temporary difference expense 3057 372

1115 100

Corporate and other

Expiration of warrants 555 5421

555 542

3007 1112

For the year ended December 31 2011 income and mining tax expense was $3.0 million compared to $1.1 million recovery in the same

period in 2010 In the current year income and mining tax expense includes Ontario transitional tax debits $2.4 million and mining interest

temporary differences $3.1 million partially offset by Quebec mining duties recovery $1.8 million and the tax recovery on the expiration of

Series warrants $0.6 million The prior year recovery includes the expiration of warrants $0.5 million Ontario resource allowance

recovery $0.3 million and Ontario transitional tax credit $0.3 million partially offset by mining interest temporary differences $0.4 million

Net Income Loss

For the year ended December 31 2011 the Company reported net loss of $65.2 million or $040 per share compared to net income of

$29.4 million or $0.21 per share in the prior year

Summary of Quarterly Results

expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars

except per share amounts 2011 2010

Q4 Q3 02 Q1 04 03 02 01

Revenue 44050 38310 51398 36714 39502 38451 21215 7930

Production costs 33120 28928 28783 30427 21556 20452 16650 16051

Gold assets

impairment charge 49210

Exploration expense 4738 1956 6134 3839 12532 7008 6421 4165

Capital expenditures 52565 50561 41363 41144 20142 14589 10146 4487

Net income loss 57397 2816 5380 10321 2013 2804 11849 18351

Cash provided by

used in operations 25557 15883 4121 24647 25196 20007 18389 10158

Net income loss per

share basic

and diluted 0.35 0.02 0.03 0.06 0.01 0.02 0.08 0.14

Cash provided by

used in operations

prior to changes in

non-cash working

capital per share 0.01 0.02 0.07 0.04 0.02 0.04 0.04 0.10

Non4FRS measure P/ease refer to Non-IFRS Measures on pages 31-33
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Revenue for the three months ended December 31 2011 was $44.1 million compared to $39.5 million for the three months ended December 31

2010 Net loss for the quarter including non-cash asset impairment charge of $49.2 million was $57.4 million or $0.35 per share compared

to net loss of $2.0 million or $0.01 per share in the comparative period in 2010

For the three months ended December 31 2011 the Company expensed $4.7 million in exploration activities compared to $12.5 million in 2010

and $52.6 million in development expenditures $44.4 million at its palladium operations and $8.2 million at its gold operations For the three

months ended December 31 2011the Company used cash in operations before changes in non-cash working capital of $1.6 million

compared to cash used in operations before changes in non-cash working capital of $0.2 million for the same period in 2010 For the three

months ended December 312011 financing activities provided cash of $71.0 million primarily consisting of $69.7 million related to the

issuance of senior secured notes compared to cash provided by financing activities in 2010 of $6.5 million Investing activities required cash

of $51.9 million for the three months ended December 31 2011 compared to $19.8 million required for investing activities in the comparative

period in 2010

The LDI mine produced 34121 ounces of payable palladium for the three months ended December 31 2011 compared to 32798 ounces of

payable palladium for the comparative period in 2010 During the quarter 591096 tonnes of ore were mined with 531825 tonnes of ore

processed by the LDI mill 2010210732 tonnes mined 247739 tonnes processed by the mill For the three months ended December 31

2011 LDIs cash cost per ounce1 was US$489 2010 US$347

The Sleeping Giant mine produced 3127 ounces of gold for the three months ended December 31 2011 compared to 4716 ounces of gold for

the comparative period in 2010 During the quarter 16493 tonnes of ore were hoisted from Sleeping Giant with 16493 tonnes processed by

the mill For the comparative period in 2010 22185 tonnes were hoisted with 21750 tonnes processed by the mill For the three months

ended December 31 2011 Sleeping Giants cash cost per ounce1 was US$1769 2010 US$1690

FINANCIAL CONDITION CASH FLOWS LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Sources and Uses of Cash

2011 2010

Cash provided by used in operations prior to changes in non-cash working capital 6122 12029

Changes in non-cash working capital
12972 61721

Cash provided by used in operations 19094 73750

Cash provided by used in financing 140382 99211

Cash provided by used in investing 183700 48557

Increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 24224 23096

Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31 2011 cash provided by operations prior
to changes in non-cash working capital was $6.1 million

compared to cash used in operations of $12.0 million in the
prior year an increase of $18.1 million This increase is primarily due to higher

revenue $63.4 million partially offset by higher production costs $46.5 million

For the year ended December 31 2011 changes in non-cash working capital resulted in source of cash of $13.0 million compared to use

of cash of $61 .7 million in the
prior year The 2011 balance of $13.0 million is primarily due to decrease in accounts receivable $7.6 million

decrease in inventories $7.4 million and an increase in other assets $3.5 million

Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31 2011 financing activities provided cash of $140.4 million consisting of $61.9 million related to the exercise

of warrants and issuance of flow-through common shares $69.7 million related to the issuance of senior secured notes and $10.5 million of

letters of credit in replacement of mine closure deposits partially offset by net scheduled repayments and additions of $1.6 million of

finance leases This compared to cash provided by financing activities of $99.2 million in the
prior year primarily related to net proceeds of

$94.2 million received from the April 2010 equity offering discussed below

Non-/ERS measure Please refer to Non-IFRS Measures on pages 31-33

22 AnnuaL Report



MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In October 2009 as part of an equity offering the Company issued warrants Series warrants to purchase an additional common share at

price of $4.25 per share at any time prior to September 30 2011 Since the 20-day volume weighted average price of the common shares

on the TSX was equal to or greater than C$5.75 per share as per the acceleration event in the warrant indenture on December 2010

the Company announced the acceleration of the expiry of the Series warrants to January 14 2011 During the first quarter of 2011

$21.3 million of proceeds were received from the exercise of 5009986 Series warrants Total proceeds of $38.8 million were received

from the exercise of Series warrants

On
April 28 2010 the Company completed an equity offering of 20 million units at price of $5.00 per unit for total net proceeds of

$94.2 million issue costs $5.8 million Each unit consisted of one common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant

of the Company Each whole warrant Series warrants entitled the holder to purchase an additional common share at price of $6.50

subject to adjustment at any time prior to October 28 2011 In 2010 1240000 Series warrants were exercised for total proceeds of

$8.1 million On October 28 2011the remaining Series warrants expired

Investing Activities

For the year ended December31 2011 investing activities required cash of $183.7 million relating to additions to mining interests of

$185.6 million and the Company received proceeds on disposal of equipment of $1.9 million For the year ended December 31 2010 investing

activities required cash of $49.4 million relating to additions to mining interests and the Company received proceeds on disposal of

equipment of $0.8 million The majority of the additions to mining interests were attributable to LOIs mine expansion project the Vezza gold

project and the Sleeping Giant gold mine

Additions to mining interests

2011 2010

Palladium operations

Offset Zone development 131322 23689

Roby Zone development 316 2573

Offset Zone exploration costs 9216 2334

Roby Zone exploration costs 45 828

Offset Zone capitalized interest 1573

Jaw crusher 1124

Mill flotation redesign
798

Tailings management facility
821 642

Other equipment and betterments 5016 3744

143309 35732

Gold operations

Vezza project 28230 3633

Sleeping Giant Shaft deepening 4829 5999

Sleeping Giant Mill expansion 1831

Sleeping Giant Underground and deferred development 2058 3006

Other equipment and betterments 376 994

37324 13632

185633 49364

In addition to the mining interests acquired by cash reflected in the above table the Company also acquired by means of finance leases

equipment in the amount of $3.7 million for the year ended December 31 20112010 $3.0 million
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Capital Resources

As at December 31 2011 the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $50.9 million compared to $75.2 million as at December 31 2010

The funds are invested in short term interest bearing deposits at major Canadian chartered bank

In July 2011 the Company increased its operating line of credit with Canadian chartered bank from US$30.0 million to US$60.0 million The

credit facility is secured by the Companys accounts receivables and inventory and may be used for working capital liquidity and general

corporate purposes At December 31 2011 the Company had US$48.0 million available to be drawn from the credit facility and US$12.0

million was utilized for letters of credit primarily for reclamation deposits

During the fourth quarter of 2011 the Company sold $72.0 million of senior secured notes by way of private placement for net proceeds of

$69.6 million The notes which mature on October 2014 were issued in $1000 denominations and bear interest at rate of 9.25% per year

payable semi-annually The Company also issued palladium warrant with each $1000 note Each warrant held by the note holder entitles

the holder to purchase 0.35 ounces of palladium at purchase price of US$620 per ounce anytime up to October 42014 If the palladium

warrants are exercised the Company has the option to pay the amount owing to the warrant holder in either cash or common shares priced

at 7% discount At the Companys option for 2% fee the maturity of the notes maybe extended for one additional year to October 2015

Subsequent to year end the Company established $15.0 million capital lease facility to fund equipment for the LDI mine expansion of

which $11.1 million has been utilized

Contractual Obligations

As at December 31 2011

expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars Payments Due by Period

Less than

Total year 25 Years years

Finance lease obligations 4905 2677 2228

Operating leases 6894 3783 2918 193

Purchase obligations 110612 110612

122411 117072 5146 193

In addition to the above the Company also has asset retirement obligations at December 31 2011 in the amount of $20.9 million that

would become payable at the time of the closures of the LDI mine Sleeping Giant mill and Vezza gold project The Company obtained

letter of credit of $10.6 million to offset these future outlays As result $10.3 million of funding is required prior to or upon closure of

these properties

Related Party Transactions

There were no related party transactions for the year ended December 31 2011

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA

As of February 22 2012 there were 162960939 common shares of the Company outstanding In addition there were options outstanding

pursuant to the Amended and Restated 2010 Corporate Stock Option Plan entitling
holders thereof to acquire 5331583 common shares of

the Company at weighted average exercise price of $3.91 per share

OVERVIEW OF NAPS EXPLORATION PROPERTIES

NAP expected its future growth will come from its significant exploration upside and through the continued exploration and development of

the Companys projects With permits mine infrastructure and available capacity at LDI NAP can move from exploration success to

production on an accelerated timeline Excluding the significant exploration program at LDI the Companys 2012 exploration budget includes

approximately 6000 metres of drilling at NAPs other Ontario properties near LDI

With respect to the Companys pipeline of non-producing gold properties there will be minimal expenditures in 2012 and the Company will

seek to realize value through either sale or joint venture opportunities
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LDI Mine Property

Exploration is central to LDIs future and will represent an important part of future growth for the mine and for the Company Situated in

unique geology LDIs substantial 33000-acre land package offers exploration upside that is further complimented by the underutilized

15000-tonne per day mill Beyond the immediate mine site most of the land has had minimal historic exploration The exploration success

achieved during the past few years gives management great encouragement that there is strong potential to continue to grow the

Companys palladium reserve and resource base through exploration

The LDI mine consists of the following underground mineralized zones

Roby Zone underground production from Roby commenced in 2006

Offset Zone discovered in 2001 located below and approximately 250 metres southwest of the Roby Zone The Offset Zone remains open

in all directions and continues to expand through exploration LDI mine expansion is currently underway to access Offset Zone ore

Cowboy Zone discovered in 2009 during infill drilling of the Offset Zone located 30 to 60 metres to the west of the Offset Zone This

new discovery has the potential to extend LDIs mine life and could potentially positively impact the economics of the mine

Outlaw Zone discovered in 2009 located to the west of the Offset Zone and the Cowboy Zone Further drilling
is required to explore

the vertical and lateral limit of this mineralization

Sheriff Zone discovered in 2010 located approximately 100 metres southeast of the Offset Zone

The disclosure regarding these mineralized areas is conceptual in nature and there has bean insufficient exploration to define mineral resource in any of these areas

The current LDI mine plan does not include the three nearby underground mineralized zones due to insufficient drilling Cowboy Outlaw

and Sheriff

In 2011 261 holes totalling 84686 metres were drilled on the LDI property Underground drilling accounted for 41343 metres 205 holesl of

which approximately 13290 metres 66 holes were to support mine operations Drilling from surface accounted for the remaining 43343

metres 56 holes The objective of NAPs 2011 exploration program was to expand the Offset Zone improve knowledge of the Offset Zone

mineralization through infill drilling and to identify potential surface targets

On January 30 2012 the Company provided an update on the remaining drill results from its 2011 exploration program at LDI Previous

exploration updates on the 2011 program were issued by news release on June 28 2011 and September 14 2011

The highlights from the recent update included

Infill drill results in the Offset Zone returned excellent grades with good width and continuity including 78 metres at 7.39 grams per

tonne Palladium g/t Pd and 33 metres at 8.71 g/t Pd

Good indication of southern extension to the Offset Zone in an area previously reported as the Southern Norite Zone including

39 metres at 4.02 g/t
Pd and 15 metres at 5.13 g/t Pd

Mineralization discovered 300 metres to the west of the Offset Cowboy and Outlaw zones including 10 metres of 305 g/t Pd giving

support to the interpretation that some mineralized zones manifest as series of parallel stacked lenses

Confirmed north and south lateral extensions of upper Roby Zone including 18 metres at 12.82 g/t Pd and

Bonanza grade surface mineralization encountered from trenches along the North VT Rim 500 metres northeast of the LDI open pit

including approximately metre samples at 64.4 glt Pd and 45.8 g/t Pd

The Company intends to issue its updated mineral reserves and resource estimates for LDI as at December 31 2011 in the second quarter

of 2012

Following the exploration success achieved in the past few years NAP will continue to invest in exploration to expand the reserves and

resources at LDI and to identify new targets 2012 exploration expenditures are expected to be approximately $16 million comprised of

70000 metres of drilling
of which 64000 metres will be at LDI and 6000 metres at NAPs other nearby properties Approximately $10 million

of the $16 million in expenditures 55000 of the 64000 metres to be drilled at LDI is in connection with the mine expansion and is included in

the $116 million capital expenditure budget for the mine expansion leaving balance of $6 million that will be expensed
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Quebec Properties

Sleeping Giant Gold Mine Property

In 2011 116 drill holes were completed at Sleeping Giant totalling 36746 metres The primary objective of the 2011 exploration program at

Sleeping Giant was to define and extend zones within the current mine on the proposed three new mining levels at depth to allow future

mine development planning Drill results from the 2011 program indicated that Sleeping Giants gold zones continue to extend at depth

however as more infill
drilling was conducted the Company encountered lack of continuity in the narrow vein structures and was unable

to confirm those grades over sufficient strike length thereby significantly reducing the tonnage that could be mined profitably

Vezza Gold Mine

In 2011 29 surface holes were completed at Vezza totalling 6258 metres and 161 holes from underground totalling 17933 metres for

combined total of 79434 metres in 376 holes

Exploration drilling conducted in 2011 confirmed grades continuity and widths of Vezzas known gold zone which are similar or better than

the last resource estimate dated December 31 2010 The widths and near vertical nature of the gold zone also confirmed that either alimak

or long hole mining methods could be used at the Vezza mine

Flordin Property

The Flordin project is located approximately 30 kilometres north of the town of Lebel-sur-QuØvillon and approximately 70 kilometres away

from the Sleeping Giant mill The Company conducted significant drilling program in 2010 consisting of 212 holes
totalling 25720 metres

which revealed the presence of several parallel gold veins near surface The Company believes that the Flordin gold project may have the

potential to provide additional feed for the Sleeping Giant mill

In 2011 the Company hired an independent consulting firm to conduct ore sorting tests on Flordins mineralized zones and waste rocks to

evaluate potential pre-concentration of ore before trucking itto the Sleeping Giant mill Preliminary results indicate that pre-concentration

can reject in the order of 50% low-grade rock in run-of-mine material reducing transport costs and increasing head grade This technology

could increase the mill feed head grade and offer significant cost savings with important implications for overall gold production costs in an

eventual mining operation second phase of ore sorting test work involved two different sorting techniques to evaluate efficiency optical

and x-ray The x-ray technique which proved to offer more advantages is currently being considered by NAP

In 2011 the Company conducted drill program consisting of 36 holes
totalling 4857 metres at Flordin

Discovery Property

Discovery is an advanced-stage gold exploration project located approximately 35 kilometres northwest of the town of Lebel-sur-QuØvillon

and approximately 70 kilometres from the Sleeping Giant mill The Discovery project is contiguous to the Flordin project 2008 scoping

study confirmed the project to be economically feasible and generate positive cash flow under certain assumptions with potential to

produce 44000 ounces of gold per year for four years

In 2011 the Company conducted drill program consisting of 18 holes totalling 7438 metres on the project targeting the extension of the

1200E Zone The 1200E zone was not considered in the 2008 Scoping Study which considered the west gold zones only Drilling
the eastern

extension of the 1200E zone revealed new gold zones at depth and followed known zones deeper eastward and westward In 2011 the

Company received the Certificate of Authorization from Quebecs Ministry of Sustainable Development Environment and Parks to conduct

underground exploration as planned in the 2008 Scoping Study

Dorm ox Property

Dormex is an early-stage gold exploration project located adjacent to the Sleeping Giant mill and is believed to have potential gold targets

similar to the original mineralization mined at the Sleeping Giant mine Exploration conducted in 2010 identified series of promising targets

and confirmed the presence of gold in the tills

In 2011 the Company conducted follow up on gold anomalies discovered in the 2010 reverse circulation program and tested new

geophysical targets The drill program consisted of 10 holes totalling 4060 metres of
drilling

Cameron Shear and Florence Properties

Cameron Shear and Florence are early-stage gold exploration projects adjacent to the east of the Discovery gold deposit and near the

Flordin deposit Drilling on number of geophysical targets has improved the Companys understanding of the geology of these early-stage

properties although economic intersections have not yet been encountered at this juncture

Laflamme Gold Property

Laflamme is an early-stage gold exploration project in the Abitibi region of Quebec joint
venture with Midland Exploration Inc Midland

The property is situated on favourable geology following the trend from the Companys Discovery project to the Sleeping Giant mine

In 2011 the Company conducted drill program consisting of holes totalling 2142 metres of drilling
and ground geophysics at Laflamme

On June 15 2011 Midland announced the discovery of an unanticipated new mineralized zone with nickel copper and platinum group

elements On July 31 2011 the Company fulfilled the requirements to exercise the option to acquire 50% interest in the project and has

exercised this option The Company is the Operator of the joint venture and may acquire an additional 15% interest by completing

feasibility study
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Ontario Properties

She bandowan Property

The Company holds 50% interest in the former producing Shebandowan mine and the surrounding Haines and Conacher properties

pursuant to an Option and Joint Venture Agreement with Vale Inco Limited Vale The properties known as the Shebandowan property

contain series of nickel copper-PGM mineralized bodies The land package which totals approximately 7842 hectares is located 90

kilometres west of Thunder Bay Ontario and approximately 100 kilometres southwest from the Companys LDI mine Vale retains an option

to increase its interest from 50% to 60% exercisable in the event that feasibility study on the property results in mineral reserve and

mineral resource estimate of the equivalent of 200 million pounds of nickel and other metals

In 2010 the Company and Vale conducted large ground geophysical survey on the property Preliminary results support further exploration

work on the property but subsequent drilling on portion of the property proved disappointing No work was undertaken in 2011 and

nothing is planned for 2012

Legris Lake Property

The Legris Lake property is adjacent to the south east portion of the Companys LDI property and is comprised of 15 claims and covering an

area of approximately 4297 hectares The property is underlain by mafic and ultramafic rocks and was optioned for its historic anomalous

PGE values The property is at preliminary exploration stage however its PGM potential and close proximity to the LDI mill presents an

encouraging exploration target

Moose Calf and Kukkee Properties

In 2010 the Company entered into option agreements for the Moose Calf and Kukkee gold properties located west of Thunder Bay near

McGraw Falls The combined properties are now referred to as the Shabaqua Gold Project

Salmi Property

On August 12011 LDI entered into an option and purchase agreement whereby LDI obtained the exclusive right to conduct exploration and

development activities as well as an exclusive right
and option to purchase 100% undivided interest in all or part of the property known as

the Salmi property comprised of eleven mineral claims located near the LDI mine and one additional adjacent mineral claim The option and

purchase agreement is subject to 2% net smelter return royalty on future production from the property with LOI having the rightto buy

back one half of the net smelter return royalty for $0.5 million

7Th Lake Property

On December 21 2011 LDI entered into letter of intent with Houston Lake Mining Inc regarding the intention of the parties to enter into an

option and purchase agreement where LDI would have an option to purchase 100% unencumbered interest in 20 claims located northwest

of the Lac des lies mine known as the Tib Lake property subject to 2.5% net smelter royalty in favour of third party on portion of the

optional ground

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Critical accounting policies generally include estimates that are highly uncertain and for which changes in those estimates could materially

impact the Companys financial statements The following accounting policies are considered critical

Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments estimates

and assumptions that affectthe application of accounting policies and the reported amount of assets and liabilities the disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the

year Significant estimates and assumptions relate to recoverability of mining operations and mineral exploration properties While

management believes that these estimates and assumptions are reasonable actual results could vary significantly

Certain assumptions are dependent upon reserves which represent the estimated amount of ore that can be economically and legally

extracted from the Companys properties In order to estimate reserves assumptions are required about range of geological technical

and economic factors including quantities grades production techniques recovery rates production costs transportation costs

commodity demand commodity prices and exchange rates Estimating the quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size shape

and depth of ore bodies to be determined by analyzing geological data such as drilling samples This process may require complex and

difficult geological judgments to interpret the data Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Revisions

to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves change from period to period and because additional geological data

is generated during the course of operations estimates of reserves may change from period to period Changes in reported reserves

may affect the Companys financial results and financial position in number of ways including the following

Asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in estimated future cash flows

Depreciation and amortization expensed in the income statement may change where such expenses are determined by the units

of production basis or where the useful economic lives of assets change

Overburden removal costs recorded on the balance sheet or charged to the statements of operations and comprehensive income

may change due to changes in the units of production basis of depreciation and amortization

Decommissioning site restoration and environmental provisions may change where changes in estimated reserves affect

expectations aboutthe timing or cost of these activities and

The carrying value of deferred tax assets may change due to changes in estimates of the likely recovery of the tax benefits
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Impairment assessments of long-lived assets

The carrying amounts of the Companys non-financial assets other than investment property inventories and deferred tax assets are

reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment Impairment is assessed at the level of

cash-generating units CGUs An impairment loss is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive

Income Loss for any excess of carrying amount overthe recoverable amount

Impairment is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are independent of those

generated from other assets or groups of assets in which case the individual assets are grouped together into CGUs for impairment

purposes

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell In

assessing value in use the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using pre-tax discount rate that reflects

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset

An impairment loss is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income Loss if the carrying

amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or

no longer exists An impairment loss on non-financial assets other than goodwill is reversed if there has been change in the

estimates used to determine the recoverable amount only to the extent that the assets carrying amount does not exceed the carrying

amount that would have been determined net of amortization if no impairment loss had been recognized

Depreciation and amortization of mining interests

Mining interests relating to plant and equipment mining leases and claims royalty interests and other development costs are

recorded at cost with depreciation and amortization provided on the unit-of-production method over the estimated remaining ounces

of palladium LDI and gold NAP Quebec to be produced based on the proven and probable reserves

Mining interests relating to small vehicles and certain machinery with determinable expected life are recorded at cost with

depreciation provided on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives ranging from three to seven years which most closely

reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset Straight-line depreciation is

calculated over the depreciable amount which is the cost of an asset less its residual value

Significant components of individual assets are assessed and if component has useful life that is different from the remainder of

that asset that component is depreciated separately using the unit-of-production or straight-line
method as appropriate Costs relating

to value beyond proven and probable reserves VBPP and land are not amortized

Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Company

will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term

Depreciation methods useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate

Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of metals in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or

receivable net of volume adjustments Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence exists usually in the form of an executed

sales agreement that the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer recovery of the consideration

is probable the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably there is no continuing management

involvement with the goods and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably The timing of the transfers of risks and rewards

varies depending on the individual terms of the contract of sale

Revenue from the sale of palladium and by-product metals from the LDI mine is provisionally recognized net of royalties based on

quoted market prices upon the delivery of concentrate to the smelter or designated shipping point which is when title transfers and

significant rights and obligations of ownership pass The Companys smelter contract provides for final prices to be determined by

quoted market prices in period subsequent to the date of concentrate delivery Variations from the provisionally priced sales are

recognized as revenue adjustments until final pricing is determined Accounts receivable are recorded net of estimated treatment and

refining costs which are subject to final assay adjustments Subsequent adjustments to provisional pricing amounts due to changes in

metal prices and foreign exchange are reflected separately from initial revenues on the consolidated statements of operations and

comprehensive loss

Revenue from the sale of gold-silver dorØ bars from Sleeping Giant is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership

have transferred to the buyer and selling prices are known or can be reasonably estimated
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Asset retirement obligations

In accordance with Company policies asset retirement obligations relating to legal and constructive obligations for future site

reclamation and closure of the Companys mine sites are recognized when incurred and liability and corresponding asset are

recorded at fair value Estimated closure and restoration costs are provided for in the accounting period when the obligation arising

from the related disturbance occurs or provided for in the period the obligation is determined

The amount of any liability recognized is estimated based on the risk-adjusted costs required to settle present obligations discounted

using pre-tax risk-free discount rate consistent with the time period of expected cash flows When the liability is initially recorded

corresponding asset retirement cost is recognized as an addition to mining interests and amortized using the unit of production method

The
liability

for each mine site is accreted over time to reflect the unwinding of the discount The accretion charges are recognized as

finance cost in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income Loss The liability is subject to re

measurement at each reporting date based on changes in discount rates and timing or amounts of the costs to be incurred Changes in

the liability other than accretion charges relating to mine rehabilitation and restoration obligations are added to or deducted from the

carrying value of the related asset retirement cost in the reporting period recognized If the change results in reduction of the

obligation in excess of the carrying value of the related asset retirement cost the excess balance is recognized as recovery through

profit or loss in the period

New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted

The following new standards amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended December 31 2011 or

have otherwise not yet been adopted by the Company

IFRS Financial Instruments Disclosures

The amendments to IFRS require disclosure of information that enables users of financial statements to understand the relationship

between transferred financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety and the associated liabilities and to evaluate the

nature of and risks associated with the entitys continuing involvement in derecognized financial assets This update is effective for

years beginning on or after January 12012 Management is evaluating the impact if any the adoption of this amendment to IFRS will

have on the disclosures in its consolidated financial statements

IFRS Financial Instruments Classification and Measurement

This is the first part of new standard on classification and measurement of financial assets that will replace lAS 39 Financial

Instruments Recognition and Measurement IFRS has two measurement categories amortized cost and fair value All equity

instruments are measured at fair value debt instrument is at amortized cost only if the entity is holding it to collect contractual cash

flows and the cash flows represent principal and interest Otherwise it is at fair value through profit or loss An update to IFRS

includes guidance on financial liabilities and derecognition of financial instruments This standard and the related update are effective

for years beginning on or after January 2015

The Company will evaluate the impact of the change to its consolidated financial statements based on the characteristics of its

financial instruments at the time of adoption

lAS Presentation of Financial Statements

This standard is amended to change the disclosure of items presented in other comprehensive income OCI including

requirement to separate items presented in OCI into two groups based on whether or not they may be recycled to profit or loss in the

future The amendment is effective for reporting years beginning on or after July 2012 This amendment is presently not expected to

impact the consolidated financial statements of the Company

lAS 19 Employee Benefits

The standard is amended to reflect significant changes to recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension expense and

termination benefits and provides expanded disclosure requirements The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or

after January 12013 This amendment is presently not expected to impact the consolidated financial statements of the Company

lAS 32 Financial Instruments Presentation

This standard is amended to clarify requirements for offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities The amendment is effective

for annual periods beginning on or after January 12014 Management is evaluating the impact if any the adoption of this amendment

to IFRS will have on the disclosures in its consolidated financial statements
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

New Standards Addressing the Scope of Reporting Entity

The following IFRS standards are introduced and lAS standards amended accordingly

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

This standard replaces the guidance on control and consolidation in lAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and

SIC-12 Consolidation Special Purpose Entities IFRS 10 changes the definition of control under IFRS so that the same criteria are

applied to all entities to determine control

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

This standard replaces lAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures IFRS 11 reduces the types of joint arrangements to two joint ventures

and joint operations IFRS 11 requires the use of equity accounting for interests in joint ventures eliminating the existing policy

choice of proportionate consolidation for jointly controlled entities under lAS 31 Entities that participate in joint operations will

follow accounting much like that for jointly controlled assets and jointly
controlled operations under lAS 31

IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities

This standard sets out the disclosure requirements for entities reporting under IFRS 10 and IFRS 11 and replaces the disclosure

requirements currently found in lAS 28 Investments in Associates

lAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

This standard is renamed Separate Financial Statements and deals solely with separate financial statements the guidance for

which remains unchanged

All above standards and amendments are effective for reporting years beginning on or after January 12013

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

The new standard provides single source of guidance on howto measure fair value where its use is already required or permitted by

other IFRS and enhances disclosure requirements for information about fair value measurements The standard is effective for

reporting years beginning on or after January 2013

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of Surface Mine

On October 20 2011 the IASB issued new interpretation IFRIC 20 to address accounting issues regarding waste removal costs

incurred in surface mining activities during the production phase of mine referred to as production stripping costs The new

interpretation addresses the classification and measurement of production stripping costs as either inventory or as tangible or

intangible non-current stripping activity asset The standard also provides guidance for the depreciation or amortization and

impairment of such assets

IFRIC 20 is effective for reporting years beginning on or after January 12013 although earlier application is permitted The Company is

assessing the impact if any the adoption of this standard may have on the consolidated financial statements of the Company

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The risks and uncertainties are discussed within the Companys most recent Form 40-F/Annual Information Form on file with the SEC and

Canadian provincial securities regulatory authorities

INTERNAL CONTROLS

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management is responsible for the information disclosed in this managements discussion and analysis and has in place the appropriate

information systems procedures and controls to ensure that information used internally by management and disclosed externally is in all

material respects complete and reliable

For the year ended December 31 2011 the President and Chief Executive Officer and Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer

certify that they have designed or caused to be designed under their supervision disclosure controls and procedures to provide reasonable

assurance that material information relating to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries would be made known to them by others

within those entities

The disclosure controls and procedures are evaluated annually through regular internal reviews which are carried out under the

supervision of and with the participation of the Companys management including the President and Chief Executive Officer and Vice

President Finance and Chief Financial Officer Based on that evaluation the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded

that the design and operation of these disclosure controls were effective as of December 31 2011
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

For the year ended December 31 2011 the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer

certify that they have designed or caused to be designed under their supervision internal controls over financial reporting to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with IFRS

There have been no changes in the Companys internal controls over the financial reporting that occurred during the most recent period

ended December 31 2011 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Companys internal control over

financial reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting Internal control over

financial reporting no matter how well designed has inherent limitations and can only provide reasonable assurance not absolute

assurance with respect to the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements and management does not expect such

controls will prevent or detect all misstatements due to error or fraud The Company is continually evolving and enhancing its systems of

controls and procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Vice President Finance and Chief

Financial Officer management performs regular internal reviews and conducts an annual evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal

control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on that evaluation the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that

the design and operation of these internal controls over financial reporting were effective as of December 31 2011

OTHER INFORMATION

Additional information regarding the Company is included in the Companys Annual Information Form and Annual Report on Form 40-F which

are filed with the SEC and the provincial securities regulatory authorities respectively copy of the Companys Annual Information Form is

posted on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com copy of the Annual Report or Form 40-F can be obtained from the SECs website at

www.sec.gov

NON-IFRS MEASURES

This MDA refers to cash used in operating activities per share and cash cost per ounce1 which are not recognized measures under IFRS

Such non-IFRS financial measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to

similarmeasures presented by other issuers Management uses these measures internally The use of these measures enables

management to better assess performance trends Management understands that number of investors and others who follow the

Companys performance assess performance in this way Management believes that these measures better reflect the Companys

performance and are better indications of its expected performance in future periods This data is intended to provide additional information

and should not be considered in isolation or as substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS The following

tables reconcile these non-IFRS measures to the most directly comparable IFRS measures

Cash Provided by Used in Operations

Cash Provided by Used in Operations before changes in non-cash working capital

The Company uses this measure as valuable indicator of the Companys ability to generate liquidity by producing operating cash flow to

fund working capital needs service debt obligations and fund capital expenditures

expressed in thousands of dollars except per ounce amounts 2011 2010

Net income loss and comprehensive income loss for the year 65154 29409

Operating items not involving cash

Depreciation and amortization 17604 15590

Gold assets impairment charge 49210

Accretion expense
794 209

Deferred income and mining tax expense recovery 1214 169

Share-based compensation and employee benefits 3404 1911

Other 950 161

Cash provided by used in operations before changes in noncash working capital 6122 12029

Non-/FRS measure P/ease refer to Non-/FRS Measures on pages 31 33
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cash Provided by Used in Operations before changes in non-cash working capital per share

expressed in thousands of dollars except per share amounts 2011 2010

Cash provided by used in operations prior to changes in non-cash working capital
6122 12029

Weighted average number of shares outstanding basic 162011253 141531377

Cash provided by used in operations prior to changes in non-cash working capital per share 0.04 0.08

Cash Cost Per Ounce

Cash cost per ounce include mine site operating costs such as mining processing administration and royalties but are exclusive of

depreciation amortization reclamation capital and exploration costs Cash cost per ounce calculation is reduced by any by-product

revenue and is then divided by ounces sold to arrive at the by-product cash cost per ounce of sales This measure along with revenues

is considered to be key indicator of companys ability to generate operating earnings and cash flow from its mining operations

The Company uses this measure internally
to evaluate the underlying operating performance of the Company for the reporting periods

presented The Company believes that providing cash cost per ounce allows the ability to better evaluate the results of the underlying

business of the Company

Reconciliation of Palladium Cash Cost per Ounce

expressed in thousands of dollars except per ounce amounts 2011 2010

Production costs including overhead 89657 40266

Smelting refining and freight costs 9206 4721

Royalty expense 5819 4202

Total operating expenses 104682 49189

Less by-product metal revenue 39655 21462

65027 27727

Divided by ounces of palladium sold 146457 95057

CashcostperounceCDN$ 444 292

Exchange rate CDN$1 US$ 1.01 0.97

Cash cost per ounce US$ net of by-product credits 448 283

Reconciliation of Gold Cash Cost per Ounce

expressed in thousands of dollars except per ounce amounts 2011 2010

Production costs including overhead 31601 28440

Refining and freight costs 54 58

Total operating expenses
31655 28498

Less by-product metal revenue 1010 473

30645 28025

Divided by ounces of gold sold 17019 17550

Cash cost per ounce CDN$ 1801 1597

Exchange rate CDN$1 US$ 1.01 0.97

CashcostperounceUS$ 1819 1549
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Adjusted Net Income Loss

Adjusted net income loss is non-IFRS financial measure which excludes the following from net income loss

Exploration

Mine startup costs

Mine shutdown costs

Asset impairment charges and

Insurance recoveries

The Company uses this measure internally to evaluate the underlying operating performance of the Company for the reporting periods

presented The Company believes that providing adjusted net income loss allows the reader the ability to better evaluate the results of the

underlying business of the Company

expressed in thousands of dollars except per ounce amounts 2011 2010

Net income loss and comprehensive income loss for the year 65154 29409

Exploration 16667 30126

Gold assets impairment charge 49210

Mine startup costs 6003

Adjusted net income 723 6720

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA is non-IFRS financial measure which excludes the following from net income loss

Income and mining tax expense recovery

Interest and other financing costs income

Depreciation and amortization

Exploration

Mine startup costs

Mine shutdown costs

Asset impairment charges and

Insurance recoveries

The Company believes that EBITDA is valuable indicator of the Companys ability
to generate liquidity by producing operating cash flow to

fund working capital needs service debt obligations and fund capital expenditures

EBITDA excludes the impact of the cost of financing activities and taxes and the effects of changes in operating working capital balances

and therefore is not necessarily indicative of operating profit or cash flow from operations as determined under IFRS Other companies may

calculate EBITDA differently

expressed in thousands of dollars except per ounce amounts 2011 2010

Net income loss and comprehensive income loss for the year 65154 29409

Income and mining tax expense recovery 3007 1112

Interest and other financing income 243 2142

Depreciation and amortization 17604 15590

EBITDA 44786 17073

Exploration 16667 30126

Gold assets impairment charge 49210

Mine startup costs 6003

Adjusted EBITDA 21091 19056
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MANAGEMENTS RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financial

Reporting Standards IFRS Financial statements include certain amounts based on estimates and judgments When an alternative method

exists under IFRS management has chosen that which it deems most appropriate in the circumstances in order to ensure that the

consolidated financial statements are presented fairly in all material respects in accordance with IFRS The financial information

presented elsewhere in the annual report is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements

The Company maintains adequate systems of internal accounting and administrative controls Such systems are designed to provide

reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized and recorded the Companys assets are appropriately accounted for and

adequately safeguarded and that the financial information is relevant and reliable

The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is

ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying managements discussion

and analysis The Board of Directors carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and all of its members are non-management directors The Audit Committee

meets periodically with management and the external auditors to discuss internal controls auditing matters and financial reporting issues

and to satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities The Audit Committee also reviews the consolidated financial

statements managements discussion and analysis the external auditors report examines the fees and expenses for audit services and

considers the engagement or reappointment of the external auditors The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors for

its consideration when approving the consolidated financial statements for issuance to the shareholders KPMG LLP the external auditors

have full and free access to the Audit Committee

Toronto Canada

February 23 2012

William Biggar Jeff Swinoga

President and CEO Vice President Finance and CEO
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT OF REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders of North American Palladium Ltd

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of North American Palladium Ltd which comprise the consolidated

balance sheets as at December 31 2011 December 31 2010 and January 12010 the consolidated statements of operations and

comprehensive loss shareholders equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31 2011 and December 31 2010 and notes

comprising summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

Managements Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with

International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and for such internal control

as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement whether due to fraud or error

Auditors Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits We conducted our audits in

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial

statements The procedures selected depend on our judgment including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of

the consolidated financial statements whether due to fraud or error In making those risk assessments we consider internal control

relevant to the entitys preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated

financial statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide basis for our audit opinion

Opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial position of North

American Palladium Ltd as at December 31 2011 December 31 2010 and January 12010 and its consolidated financial performance

and its consolidated cash flows for the years ended December 31 2011 and December 31 2010 in accordance with International Financial

Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board

Chartered Accountants Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto Canada

February 23 2012
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars

Notes

December31

2011

December31

2010

January

2010

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash 50935 75159 98255

Accounts receivable 73048 80683

Taxes receivable 4602 734 204

Inventories 20046 27481 25306

Other assets 11255 21551 2495

Total CurrentAssets 159886 211614 126260

Non-current Assets

Mining interests 256159 126286 85014

Reclamation deposit 10537 10503

Total Non-current Assets 256159 136823 95517

Total Assets 416045 348431 221771

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EflUITY

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 42436 39859 12498

Current portion of obligations under finance leases 10 2428 1196 558

Provisions 11 1000 1000 1000

Taxes payable 715

Current derivative liability 12 4875

Total Current Liabilities 51454 42055 14056

Non-current Liabilities

Income taxes payable 2648 936 1573

Asset retirement obligations 20881 12594 13602

Obligations under finance leases 10 2104 1195 576

Long-term debt 12 65698

Deferred mining tax liability 20 4264 1201 832

Total Non-current Liabilities 95595 15932 16583

Shareholders Equity

Common share capital and purchase warrants 14 740888 702787 514878

Stock options and related surplus 7859 5596 4242

Contributed surplus 8873 5537 6079

Deficit 488624 423410 394061

Total Shareholders Equity 268996 290450 191138

Total Liabilities and Shareholders Equity 416045 348437 221177

Contingencies and commitments Notes 16 and 19

Subsequent events Note 24

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

On Behalf of the Board of Directors

494-
Andre Douchane Director Steven Berlin Director

36 Annuat Report



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share amounts

Notes 2011 2010

Revenue 17 170472 107098

Mining operating expenses

Production costs 121258 74709

Smelting refining and freight costs 9.260 4779

Royalty expense
5819 4202

Depreciation and amortization 17604 15590

Gold assets impairment charge 49210

Loss gain on disposal of equipment 950 270

Other 1352

Total mining operating expenses 203553 99010

Income loss from mining operations 33081 8088

Other expenses

Exploration 16667 30126

General and administration 12283 10648

Interest income 18 2817 2917

Interest expense and other costs 18 2574 775

Foreign exchange loss gain 359 23

Total other expenses 29066 38609

Loss before taxes 62147 30521

Income and mining tax recovery expense 20 3007 1112

Loss and comprehensive loss for the period 65154 29409

Loss per share

Basic and diluted 0.40 0.21

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic 14f 162011253 141537377

Diluted 14f 162011253 141537377

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars

Notes 2011 2010

Cash provided by used in

Operations

Net loss forthe period 65154 29409

Operating items not involving cash

Depreciation and amortization 17604 15590

Gold assets impairment charge 49210

Accretion expense 18 794 209

Deferred income and mining tax expense recovery 20 1214 169

Share-based compensation and employee benefits 3404 1911

Other 950 161

6122 12029

Changes in non-cash working capital 21 12972 61721

19094 73750

Financing Activities

Issuance of common shares and warrants net of issue costs 14 61916 101074

Issuance of long-term debt netof issue costs 12 69656

Repayment of obligations underfinance leases 10 1570 1721

Interest paid 10 157 142

Mine reclamation deposit 10537

140382 99211

Investing Activities

Additions to mining interests 185633 49364

Proceeds on disposal of mining interests 1933 807

183700 48557

Decrease in cash 24224 23096

Cash beginning of period 75159 98255

Cash end of period 50935 75159

Cash and cash equivalents consisting of

Cash 50603 75159

Short-term investments 332

50935 75159

Foreign exchange included in cash balance 66

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except share amounts

Balance January 12010

Common shares issued

Related to 2010 unit offering

net of issue costs

Related to purchase of

Vezza property

Warrants

Tax allocation on

expiration of warrants

Warrants exercised

Stock-based compensation

Stock options exercised

Stock-based

compensation expense

Net loss and comprehensive

loss for the year ended

December 31 2010

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Number of
Capital

Stock

Notes shares stock options Warrants

Contributed

surplus

Total

shareholders

equityDeficit

20000000 89804

1368421 6500

5692076 28134

4423

1856

14 127383051 572332 4242 2546$ 6079 394061 191138

542 542

26278

14e 124634 565 218 347

85093 339 1572 1911

94227

6500

29409 29409

Balance December31 2010 154653275 697674 5596 5113 5537 423470 290450

Common shares issued

Private placement of flow-

through shares

net of issue costs 14d 2667000 20594 20594

Premium on issuance of

flow-through shares 1840 1840

Warrants

Warrants exercised 14b 5009986 22514 1239 14 21289

Expiration of warrants

net of tax 14b 3874 3322 552

Stock-based compensation

Stock options exercised 14e 317919 1105 300 805

Stock-based

compensation expense 14c 203252 841 2563 3404

Net loss and comprehensive

loss for the year ended

December 31 2011 65154 65154

Balance December 31 2011 162851432 740888 7859 8873 488624 268996



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except per share amounts and metal prices

NATURE OF OPERATIONS

North American Palladium Ltd NAP or the Company is domiciled in Canada and was incorporated on September 12 1991 underthe

Canadian Business Corporations Act The Companys 100%-owned subsidiaries are Lac des lies Mines Ltd LDI and NAP Quebec Mines

Ltd NAP Quebec

NAPs flagship operation is the LDI palladium mine located northwest of Thunder Bay Ontario which started producing palladium in 1993

The Company is currently expanding the LDI mine to transition from mining via ramp access to mining via shaft while utilizing high volume

bulk mining method

The Company is incurring additional exploration expenditures on other palladium opportunities at LOl including the Cowboy Outlaw and

Sheriff zones that are adjacent to the underground operations

The Company also owns the Vezza gold mine located north of Val dOr Quebec The Companys other Quebec-based properties consist of

Discovery Flordin Cameron Shear Florence Lafiamme Dormex and Harricana

The consolidated financial statements for the Company as at December 31 2011 and for the year ended December 31 2011 include the

Company and its subsidiaries collectively referred to as the Company

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements represent the first annual financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries prepared in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board IASB
The Company adopted IFRS in accordance with IFRS First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

As these financial statements are the Companys first annual financial statements prepared using IFRS these financial statements should be

read in conjunction with the IFRS transition disclosures included in Note 23 to these financial statements which contains reconciliations

and descriptions of the effect of the transition from Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Canadian GAAP to IFRS on

reported financial position financial performance and cash flows including the nature and effect of significant changes in accounting

policies from those used in the Companys consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31 2010

These financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of the Company on February 23 2012

Basis of Measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items in the consolidated

balance sheet

Accounts receivable and related derivative instruments are measured at fair value

ii Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value

iii Liabilities for cash-seffled share-based payment arrangements are measured at fair value

Functional and Presentation Currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars which is the Companys and each of its subsidiaries functional

currency All financial information is expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share amounts

Use of Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgments estimates and

assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amount of assets and liabilities the disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year Significant

estimates and assumptions relate to recoverability of mining operations and mineral exploration properties While management believes

that these estimates and assumptions are reasonable actual results could vary significantly

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the

consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes

Note Asset retirement obligations

Note 14 Shareholders equity

Note 17 Revenue from metal sales
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Certain assumptions are dependent upon reserves which represent the estimated amount of ore that can be economically and legally

extracted from the Companys properties In order to estimate reserves assumptions are required about range of geological technical

and economic factors including quantities grades production techniques recovery rates production costs transportation costs

commodity prices and exchange rates Estimating the quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size shape and depth of ore bodies to

be determined by analyzing geological data such as drilling samples This process may require complex and difficult geological judgments

to interpret the data Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Revisions to accounting estimates are

recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserves change from period to period and additional geological data is generated

during the course of operations estimates of reserves may change from period to period Changes in reported reserves may affect the

Companys financial results and financial position in number of ways including the following

ji Asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in estimated future cash flows

ii Depreciation and amortization charged in the statement of operations may change or be impacted where such charges are

determined by the units of production basis or where the useful economic lives of assets change

iii Decommissioning site restoration and environmental provisions may change where changes in estimated reserves affect

expectations about the timing or cost of these activities and

iv The carrying value of deferred tax assets may change due to changes in estimates of the likely recovery of the tax benefits

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have significant risk of resulting in material adjustment within the

next financial year are included in the following notes

Note 7Mining interests

Note 11 Provisions

Note 19 Contingencies

Note 20 Income taxes

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by all Companys entities for all periods presented in these

consolidated financial statements and in preparing the opening IFRS balance sheet at January 2010 for the purposes of the transition to

IFRSs unless otherwise indicated

Basis of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries

Business combinations

The Company measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred including the recognized amount of any non-

controlling interest in the acquiree less the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed all measured as of the

acquisition date When the excess is negative bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss

The Company elects on transaction-by-transaction basis whether to measure non-controlling interest at its fair value or at its

proportionate share of the recognized amount of the identifiable net assets at the acquisition date

Transaction costs other than those directly associated with the issue of debt or equity securities that the Company incurs in

connection with business combination are expensed as incurred

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial

statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Inter-company balances and transactions and any unrealized income and expenses arising from inter-company transactions are

eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Foreign Currency Translations

The reporting and functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is the Canadian dollar Accordingly the Company translates

monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the consolidated balance sheet dates

non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency at the rate in effect at the date the transaction occurred and revenues

and expenses denominated in foreign currency at the exchange rate in effect during the applicable accounting period All resulting foreign

exchange gains and losses are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

Financial Instruments

Non-derivative financial assets

The Company initially recognizes loans and receivables and deposits on the date they originated All other financial assets including

assets designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognized initially on the trade date at which the Company becomes party

to the contractual provisions of the instrument

Financial instruments are measured on initial recognition at fair value plus in the case of instruments other than those classified as

fair value through profit and loss directly
attributable transaction costs

The Company has the following non-derivative financial assets financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and loans

and receivables

financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading or is designated as such upon initial

recognition These financial instruments are measured at fair value and changes therein are recognized in the Statement of Operations

and Comprehensive Loss The Companys accounts receivable from the sale of palladium and by-product metals from the LDI mine

primarily represent the material financial instruments which have been recorded at fair value through profit or loss see Note

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are measured subsequent to initial recognition at amortized cost using the

effective interest method less any impairment losses The Companys loan and receivables are included in other assets refer to

Note Cash and cash equivalents are stated at amortized cost and include cash on account less outstanding cheques demand

deposits and short-term guaranteed investments with original maturities of three months or less

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Company initially recognizes debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date they originated All other financial

liabilities including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognized initially on the trade date at which the

Company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument

The Company derecognizes financial
liability

when its contractual obligations are discharged cancelled or expired Financial assets

and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated balance sheet when and only when the Company has

legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on net basis or to realize the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously

The Company has the following non-derivative financial liabilities long-term debt finance leases loans and borrowings bank

overdrafts credit facilities and trade and other payables

Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs Subsequent to initial

recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method

Derivative financial instruments

The Company holds derivative financial instruments to minimize its foreign currency and market price exposures Embedded

derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic characteristics and risks of the host

contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative

would meet the definition of derivative and the combined instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss

Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value and any associated transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred

Subsequent to initial recognition derivatives are measured at fair value and changes therein are accounted for as described below

Separable embedded derivatives

Changes in the fair value of separable embedded derivatives are recognized immediately in profit or loss

Other non-trading derivatives

When derivative financial instrument is not held for trading and is not designated in qualifying hedge relationship all changes in its

fair value are recognized immediately in profit or loss
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Inventories

Concentrate crushed and broken ore stockpiles and gold inventory are valued at the lower of average production cost including an

allocation of the depreciation of production related assets and net realizable value Crushed and broken ore stockpiles represent coarse

ore that has been extracted from the mine and is available for further processing The amount of stockpiled ore that is not expected to be

processed within one year if any is shown as long-term asset Gold inventory is comprised of unprocessed ore either in stockpiles or

bins unrecovered gold in either carbon or solution within the milling circuit and gold-silver dorØ bars produced but not sold as at the

reporting date Supplies inventory is valued at the lower of average cost and net realizable value

Mining Interests

Recognition and measurement

Property plant and equipment are measured at costless accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset The cost of self-constructed assets includes

the cost of materials and direct labour any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to working condition for their

intended use the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located and borrowing costs

on qualifying assets for which the commencement date for capitalization is on or after January 12010 The Company capitalizes

interest on major projects where direct indebtedness has occurred

When parts of an item of property plant and equipment have different useful lives they are accounted for as separate items or major

components of property plant and equipment

Spare parts and servicing equipment are usually carried as inventory and recognized in profit or loss as consumed However major

spare parts and stand-by equipment qualify as property plant and equipment when the Company expects to use them during more than

one period Similarly if the spare parts and servicing equipment can be used only in connection with an item of property plant and

equipment they are accounted for as property plant and equipment

Exploration costs
relating

to properties are charged to earnings in the year in which they are incurred When it is determined that

mining property can be economically developed as result of reserve potential subsequent exploration expenditures are capitalized

Determination as to reserve potential is based on the results of studies which indicate whether production from property is

economically feasible Upon commencement of commercial production of development project these costs are amortized using the

unit-of-production method over the proven and probable reserves Capitalized exploration costs net of salvage values relating
to

property that is later abandoned or considered uneconomic for the foreseeable future are written off in the period the decision is

made No amortization is provided in respect of mine development expenditures until commencement of commercial production Any

production revenue earned prior to commercial production net of related costs is offset against the development costs

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal

with the carrying amount of property plant and equipment and are recognized net within other income in profit or loss

Value Beyond Proven and Probable Reserves VBPP
On acquisition of mineral property the Company prepares an estimate of the fair value of the resources and exploration potential of

that property and records this amount as an asset VBPP as at the date of acquisition The acquisition costs classified as VBPP are

not amortized

On an annual basis estimates of proven and probable mineral reserves for each mineral property acquired are prepared The change

in reserves net of production costs is among other things used to determine the amount to be converted from VBPP to proven and

probable reserves subject to amortization

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property plant and equipment is recognized at the carrying amount of the item if it is probable

that the future economic benefits embodied within the item will flow to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably The

carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property plant and equipment are

recognized in profit or loss as incurred

Depreciation and amortization

Mining interests relating to plant and equipment mining leases and claims royalty interests and other development costs are

recorded at cost with depreciation and amortization provided on the unit-of-production method over the estimated remaining ounces

of palladium LDI and gold NAP Quebec to be produced based on the proven and probable reserves
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Mining interests relating to small vehicles and certain machinery with determinable expected life are recorded at cost with

depreciation provided on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives ranging from three to seven years which most closely

reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset Straight-line depreciation is

calculated over the depreciable amount which is the cost of an asset less its residual value

Significant components of individual assets are assessed and if component has useful life that is different from the remainder of

that asset that component is depreciated separately using the unit-of-production or straight-line
method as appropriate Costs relating

to VBPP and land are not amortized

Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Company

will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term

Depreciation methods useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Companys non-financial assets excluding inventories and deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting

date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment Impairment is assessed at the level of cash-generating units CGUs An

impairment loss is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for any excess of carrying amount

over the recoverable amount

Impairment is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are independent of those generated

from other assets or groups of assets in which case the individual assets are grouped together into CGUs for impairment purposes

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell In assessing value in

use the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset

An impairment loss is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss if the carrying amount of an asset

or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and

its value in use

Impairment losses recognized in
prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no

longer exists An impairment loss on non-financial assets other than goodwill is reversed if there has been change in the estimates used

to determine the recoverable amount only to the extent that the assets carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would

have been determined net of amortization if no impairment loss had been recognized

Employee Benefits

Defined contribution plans

defined contribution plan is post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into separate entity and

will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans

are recognized as an employee benefit expense in
profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees

Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that cash refund or reduction in future payments is available

Contributions to defined contribution plan that are due more than 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees

render the service are discounted to their present value

Compensation Agreements

Share-based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of equity-classified share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognized as an employee

expense with corresponding increase in equity over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards

The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service are expected to be

met such that the amount ultimately recognized as an expense is based on the number of awards that do meet the related service and

non-market performance conditions at the vesting date

The Company has Restricted Share Unit RSU Plan under which
eligible directors officers and key employees of the Company are

entitled to receive awards of restricted share units Each restricted share unit is equivalent in value to the fair market value of

common share of the Company on the date of the award and corresponding liability is established on the balance sheet The value of

each award is charged to compensation expense over the period of vesting At each reporting date the compensation expense and

liability are adjusted to reflect the changes in market value of the liability based on the fair values of RSUs for each vesting period

determined using the Black-Scholes model
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Share-based payment arrangements in which the Company receives goods or services as consideration for its own equity

instruments are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions regardless of how the equity instruments are

obtained by the Company

Provisions

provision is recognized if as result of past event the Company has present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated

reliably and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation Provisions are determined by

discounting the expected future cash flows at pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the

risks specific to the liability

Production obligations

provision for an obligation based on achieving specific production targets is recognized when the Company based on estimates of

recoverable minerals and planned production in the current mine plan for each property determines the production target expected to

be achieved

Asset retirement obligations

In accordance with Company policies asset retirement obligations relating to legal and constructive obligations for future site

reclamation and closure of the Companys mine sites are recognized when incurred and liability and corresponding asset are

recorded at fair value Estimated closure and restoration costs are provided for in the accounting period when the obligation arising

from the related disturbance occurs

The amount of any liability recognized is estimated based on the risk-adjusted costs required to settle present obligations discounted

using pre-tax risk-free discount rate consistent with the time period of expected cash flows When the liability
is

initially recorded

corresponding asset retirement cost is recognized as an addition to mining interests and amortized using the unit of production method

The liability for each mine site is accreted over time and the accretion charges are recognized as finance cost in the Consolidated

Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss The liability is subject to re-measurement at each reporting date based on

changes in discount rates and timing or amounts of the costs to be incurred Changes in the liability otherthan accretion charges

relating
to mine rehabilitation and restoration obligations which are not the result of current production of inventory are added to or

deducted from the carrying value of the related asset retirement cost in the reporting period recognized If the change results in

reduction of the obligation in excess of the carrying value of the related asset retirement cost the excess balance is recognized as

recovery through profit or loss in the period

Revenue and Accounts Receivable

Revenue from the sale of metals in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable

net of volume adjustments Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence exists usually in the form of an executed sales agreement

that the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer recovery of the consideration is probable the

associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably there is no continuing management involvement with the goods

and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably The timing of the transfers of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual

terms of the contract of sale

Revenue from the sale of palladium and by-product metals from the LDI mine is provisionally recognized based on quoted market prices

upon the delivery of concentrate to the smelter or designated shipping point which is when title transfers and significant rights
and

obligations of ownership pass The Companys smelter contract provides for final prices to be determined by quoted market prices in

period subsequent to the date of concentrate delivery Variations from the provisionally priced sales are recognized as revenue adjustments

until final pricing is determined Accounts receivable is recorded net of estimated treatment and refining costs which are subject to final

assay adjustments Subsequent adjustments to provisional pricing amounts due to changes in metal prices and foreign exchange are

reflected separately from initial revenues on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss

Revenue from the sale of gold-silver dorØ bars from Sleeping Giant is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have

transferred to the buyer and selling prices are known or can be reasonably estimated
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Interest and other costs

Interest income is comprised of interest income on funds invested including available-for-sale financial assets gains on the disposal of

available-for-sale financial assets gains on the renouncement of flow-through expenditures changes in the fair value of financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss and gains on hedging instruments that are recognized in
profit or loss Interest income is recognized as it

accrues in profit or loss using the effective interest method

Other costs are comprised of interest expense on borrowings accretion expense unwinding of the discount on provisions changes in the

fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss impairment losses recognized on financial assets losses on hedging

instruments that are recognized in profit or loss and changes in the fair value of the palladium warrants Borrowing costs that are not

directly
attributable to the acquisition construction or production of qualifying asset are recognized in profit or loss using the effective

interest method

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on net basis

Income and mining taxes

Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to the

extent that it relates to business combination or items recognized directly
in equity or in other comprehensive income

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year using tax rates enacted or substantively

enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting

purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences

Ii the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in transaction that is not business combination and that affects neither accounting

nor taxable profit or loss

ii temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they

will not reverse in the foreseeable future and

iii temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse based on the laws

that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets and they relate

to income or mining taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity or on different tax entities but they intend to settle

current tax liabilities and assets on net basis ortheirtax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously

deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable

that future taxable
profits

will be available against which they can be utilized Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and

are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Share

Basic earnings loss per common share EPS is computed by dividing the income loss for the period by the weighted average number

of common shares outstanding during the reporting period Diluted EPS is computed using the treasury stock method whereby the weighted

average number of shares outstanding is increased to include additional common shares from the assumed exercise of stock options and

common share purchase warrants if dilutive The number of additional common shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding equity

instruments were exercised and that proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire shares of common stock at the average market

price during the reporting period These common equivalent shares are not included in the calculation of the weighted average number of

shares outstanding for diluted loss per common share when the effect would be anti-dilutive

Flow-Through Shares

The Company finances portion of its exploration activities through the issuance of flow-through shares On the date of issuance of the

flow-through shares the premium relating to the proceeds received in excess of the closing market price of the Companys common shares

is allocated to liabilities
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Under the terms of the flow-through common share issues the tax attributes of the related expenditures are renounced to investors and

deferred income tax expense and deferred tax liabilities are increased by the estimated income tax benefits renounced by the Company to

the investors The premium liability
is reduced pro-rata based on the actual amount of flow-through eligible expenditures incurred during

the reporting period The reduction to the premium is recognized through profit or loss as other income

Segment Reporting

An operating segment is component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur

expenses including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Companys other components All operating

segments operating results are reviewed regularly by the Companys executive team to make decisions about resources to be allocated to

the segment and assess its performance and for which discrete financial information is available

Segment results that are reported to the executive team include items directly attributable to segment as well as those that can be

allocated on reasonable basis Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets primarily the Companys headquarters head office

expenses and deferred tax assets and liabilities

Segment capital expenditures are the total costs incurred during the period to acquire property plant and equipment and goodwill

New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted

The following new standards amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended December 31 2011 or

have otherwise not yet been adopted by the Company

IFRS Financial Instruments Disclosures

The amendments to IFRS require disclosure of information that enables users of financial statements to understand the relationship

between transferred financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety and the associated liabilities and to evaluate the

nature of and risks associated with the entitys continuing involvement in derecognized financial assets This update is effective for

years beginning on or after January 12012 Management is evaluating the impact if any the adoption of this amendment to IFRS will

have on the disclosures in its consolidated financial statements

IFRS Financial Instruments Classification and Measurement

This is the first part of new standard on classification and measurement of financial assets that will replace lAS 39 Financial

Instruments Recognition and Measurement IFRS has two measurement categories amortized cost and fair value All equity

instruments are measured at fair value debt instrument is at amortized cost only if the entity is holding it to collect contractual cash

flows and the cash flows represent principal and interest Otherwise it is at fair value through profit or loss An update to IFRS

includes guidance on financial liabilities and derecognition of financial instruments This standard and the related update are effective

for years beginning on or after January 12015

The Company will evaluate the impact of the change to its consolidated financial statements based on the characteristics of its

financial instruments at the time of adoption

lAS Presentation of Financial Statements

This standard is amended to change the disclosure of items presented in other comprehensive income OCl including

requirement to separate items presented in DCI into two groups based on whether or not they may be recycled to profit or loss in the

future The amendment is effective for reporting years beginning on or after July 2012 This amendment is presently not expected to

impact the consolidated financial statements of the Company

lAS 19 Employee Benefits

The standard is amended to reflect significant changes to recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension expense and

termination benefits and provides expanded disclosure requirements The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or

after January 12013 This amendment is presently not expected to impact the consolidated financial statements of the Company
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New Standards Addressing the Scope of Reporting Entity

The following IFRS standards are introduced and lAS standards amended accordingly

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

This standard replaces the guidance on control and consolidation in lAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and

SIC-12 Consolidation Special Purpose Entities IFRS 10 changes the definition of control under IFRS so that the same criteria are

applied to all entities to determine control

IFRS 11 JointArrangements

This standard replaces lAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures IFRS 11 reduces the types of joint arrangements to two joint ventures

and joint operations IFRS 11 requires the use of equity accounting for interests in joint ventures eliminating the existing policy

choice of proportionate consolidation for jointly controlled entities under lAS 31 Entities that participate in
joint operations will

follow accounting much like that for jointly controlled assets and jointly
controlled operations under lAS 31

IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities

This standard sets out the disclosure requirements for entities reporting under IFRS 10 and IFRS 11 and replaces the disclosure

requirements currently found in lAS 28 Investments in Associates

IAS27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

This standard is renamed Separate Financial Statements and deals solely with separate financial statements the guidance for

which remains unchanged

All above standards and amendments are effective for reporting years beginning on or after January 12013

FRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

The new standard provides single source of guidance on how to measure fair value where its use is already required or permitted by

other IFRS and enhances disclosure requirements for information about fair value measurements The standard is effective for

reporting years beginning on or after January 12013

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of Surface Mine

On October 20 2011 the IASB issued new interpretation IFRIC 20 to address accounting issues regarding waste removal costs

incurred in surface mining activities during the production phase of mine referred to as production stripping costs The new

interpretation addresses the classification and measurement of production stripping costs as either inventory or as tangible or

intangible non-current stripping activity
asset The standard also provides guidance for the depreciation or amortization and

impairment of such assets

IFRIC 20 is effective for reporting years beginning on or after January 2013 although earlier application is permitted The Company is

assessing the impact if any the adoption of this standard may have on the consolidated financial statements of the Company

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consist of the following

At December31 At December31 At January

2011 2010 2010

Accounts receivable 71097 80683

Unrealized gain on financial contracts 1951

Accounts receivable 73048 80683

As at December 31 2011 total of 69500 ounces of past palladium production delivered and sold to the smeltec was priced using forward prices for the month of final

settlement at an average price of $697 per ounce December31 2010 68950 ounces at an average price of $640 per ounce Defer to Notes and 15

Accounts receivable represents the value of all platinum group metals PGMs gold and certain base metals contained in LDIs

concentrate shipped for smelting and refining valued using the December 31 2011 forward metal prices for the month of final settlement

and for which significant risks and rewards have transferred to third parties
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All of the accounts receivable are due from two customers at December31 2011 reserve for doubtful accounts has not been established

as in the opinion of management the amount due will be fully
collected The Company is not economically dependent on its customers refer

to Note 17

Accounts receivable has been pledged as security against one-year US$60.0 million operating line of credit with Canadian chartered

bank which is to be used for working capital liquidity and general corporate purposes The Company had $48.0 million available to be drawn

from the credit facility
and $12.0 million was utilized for letters of credit primarily for reclamation deposits refer to Note 16c

INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following

At December31 At December 31 At January

2011 2010 2010

Supplies 11209 12580 12555

Gold inventory 6209 5928 4890

Crushed and broken ore stockpiles 2628 8979 7861

Total 20046 27487 25306

Gold inventory is comprised of unprocessed ore either in stockpiles or bins unrecovercd gold in either carbon or solution within the milling circuit and gold-silver dorE

bars produced but not sold as at the reporting
date

Crushed and broken ore stockpiles represent coarse ore that has been extracted from the mine and is available for further processing
The amount of ore stockpiles that

is not expected to be processed within one year if an is shown as long-term asset

All inventory amounts are carried at cost for the periods presented with the exception of gold inventories which are written down to net

realizable value

Supplies inventory of $24111 2010 $11650 were recognized as an expense during the year ended December 31 2011

The Company recognized write-down of obsolete supplies inventory of $1352 for the year ended December 31 20112010 $nil

OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consist of the following

At December31 At December31 At January

2011 2010 2010

Prepaids 695 2555 1165

Sales taxes receivable 8501 5120 1275

Warrant proceeds receivable 19777

Ministry of Natural Resources 1769

Other 290 99 55

11255 27551 2495

In 2011 $21.3 million of
proceeds were received from the exercise of 5009986 Series warrants Refer to Note 14b for further details

In 2011 the Company issued letter of credit related to the Sleeping Giant mine closure plan The Ministry of Natural Resources acknowledged receipt of the letter of

credit in 2011 and the cash proceeds were received in 2012
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MINING INTERESTS

Mining interests are comprised of the following

Mining

leases and

Underground Equipment claims royalty

Plant and mine under interest and Exploration

equipment development finance lease development properties Total

Cost or deemed cost

Balance at January 2010 29730 35151 2495 5516 16767 90259

Additions of physical assets 10870 31535 2456 3163 5106 59130

Revaluation of ARO assets 1319 1319

Disposals 812 72 884

BalanceatDecember3l2010 38469 13214 4951 8619 21873 147186

BalanceatJanuaryl2011 38469 73214 4951 8679 21813 147186

Additions of physical assets 8297 142339 3943 5429 28507 188515

Revaluation of ARO assets 5738 5738

Capitalization of borrowing costs 1574 1574

Reclassification of costs for finance

leases maturing in the year 1510 1510

Disposals 1441 150 1591

BalanceatDecember3l2011 51063 218487 7384 14108 50380 341422

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at January 2010 4633 34 25 553 5245

Depreciation for the year 4575 9922 437 876 15810

Disposals 136 19 155

Balance at December 31 2010 9072 9937 462 1429 20900

Balance at January 2011 9072 9937 462 1429 20900

Depreciation for the period 4582 11229 786 1001 17598

Impairment loss Ireversal 1674 33568 480 11673 47395

Disposals 480 150 630

BalanceatDecember3l2011 14848 54584 1248 2910 11673 85263

Carrying amounts

As at January 2010 25097 35717 2470 4963 16767 85014

AsatDecember3l2010 29397 63277 4489 7250 21813 126286

AsatDecember3l2011 36215 163903 6136 11198 38707 256159

Gold Assets Impairment Charge

The Company announced on January 17 2012 that it is discontinuing production at the Sleeping Giant mine

After reviewing various mining scenarios the Company concluded that mining would likely continue at high costs given the lack of grade

continuity with insufficient operating margin to justify continuing operations The Company has therefore ceased mining operations at

Sleeping Giant and has restructured the gold division resulting in non-cash impairment charge on its gold assets of $49210 for the year

ended December 31 2011

The Sleeping Giant mill will continue to operate to process ore from the Vezza mine The mill has capacity of 900 tonnes per day which will

be sufficient to process Vezzas ore
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Asset Restrictions and Contractual Commitments

The Companys assets are subject to certain restrictions on title property plant and equipment pledged as securityfor credit facility

arrangements and Senior secured lenders Note 12

Contractual obligations related to equipment under finance leases are summarized in Note 10 and under the discussion of liquidity risk in

Note 15

Fair Value Determination

The following outlines the Companys methodology in assessing impairments and determining recoverable amounts as necessary in

accordance with the Companys impairment accounting policy

Existing mining interests

The Company reviews mining plans for the remaining life of each property to determine the fair value of its existing mining properties

related assets and cash-generating units Future cash flows are estimated based on quantities of recoverable minerals expected

palladium gold and other commodity prices and expected foreign exchange rates considering current historical and expected future

prices and foreign exchange rates and related factors production levels and cash cost of production and capital and reclamation

expenditures all based on detailed life-of-mine plans and projections The term recoverable minerals refers to the estimate of

recoverable production from measured indicated and inferred mineral resources that are considered economically mineable and are

based on managements confidence in converting such resources to proven and probable reserves The estimated future cash flows

are discounted to their present value using pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money

and the risks specific to the asset

Significant changes in mine plans can occur as result of mining experience new discoveries changes in mining methods and rates

process changes investments in new equipment and technology and other factors The Company reviews its accounting estimates

and adjusts these estimates based on recoverable minerals determined by the Company in the current mine plan Assumptions

underlying future cash flow estimates are subject to risk and uncertainty Any differences between significant assumptions and market

conditions such as metal prices exchange rates recoverable metal and/or the Companys operating performance could have

material effect on the Companys ability to recover the carrying amounts of its long-lived assets resulting in possible additional

impairment charges

Mining interests acquired through business combination

The fair value of mining interests recognized as result of business combination is based on market values The market value of

property is the estimated amount for which property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between willing buyer and

willing seller in an arms length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably and willingly

The fair value of plant equipment fixtures and fiffings is based on the market approach and cost approaches using quoted market

prices for similar items when available and replacement cost when appropriate

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS AND RECLAMATION DEPOSITS

Expected timing of estimated cash flows required to settle obligations are as follows LDI mine 2020 Sleeping Giant mill 2021 Sleeping

Giant mine 2012 and Vezza Gold Project 2021 The obligation at December 31 2011 is expected to be paid at the end of the life of each

mine The key assumptions applied for determination of the ARO obligation are as follows as at

At December31 At December31 At January

2011 2010 2010

Inflation 2.00 1.97 1.99

Market risk 5.00 5.00 5.00

Discount rate 1.84 2.62 1.50

The asset retirement obligation may change materially based on future changes in operations costs of reclamation and closure activities

and regulatory requirements For the year ended December 31 2010 the timing of LDIs mining property closure plan was extended to

include the Offset Zone project which resulted in reduction of $1.3 million in 2010 to the cost of the related restoration asset During 2011

the mine closure obligations for the mine Sleeping Giant mine and Vezza Gold Project were revised to reflect the Companys most

current closure cost estimates expected mine lives and market rate assumptions The current mine closure obligations include LDI mine

$13905 Sleeping Giant mill $4426 Sleeping Giant mine $2116 and Vezza Gold Project $4341

51 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company in conjunction with the Ontario Ministry of Northern Development and Mines the Ministry and the MinistØre des

Resources naturelles et de Ia Faune du QuØbec the MinistØre has established trust funds the Funds pursuant to the Companys mine

closure plan for eventual clean-up and restoration of the LDI mine site Vezza Gold Project and the Sleeping Giant mill

The LDI mine closure plan requires total amount of $12997 to be accumulated in the Fund over the term of LDIs operations At December

312011 the Company had letter of credit outstanding for $8466 December 31 2010 $8438 was on deposit with the Ministry including

accrued interest of $908

The Sleeping Giant gold mine and mill closure plan requires total amount of $1920 to be accumulated in the Fund At December 31 2011

the Company had letter of credit outstanding for $1769 the funds of which were received subsequent to year end December 31 2010

$1769 was on deposit with the MinistŁre

The Company also has letter of credit outstanding for $317 relating to the Shebandowan West Project

The funds on deposit bear interest at current short-term deposit rates and will be returned to the Company once the mine closure

is completed

At December 31 2011 the asset retirement and the related mine restoration deposit are as follows as at

At December31

2011

At December31

2010

Asset retirement obligation beginning of period 12.594 13602

Change in discount rate and estimated closure costs 7950 1217

Accretion expense Note 18 337 209

Asset retirement obligation end of period 20881 12594

Reclamation deposits 10537

Obligation in excess of deposit 20881 2057

At the respective reporting dates the undiscounted asset retirement obligations are as follows as at

At December31 At December31 At January

2011 2010 2010

Asset retirement obligation undiscounted 23653 16121 14022

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are comprised of

At December31 At December31 At January

2011 2010 2010

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 42436 28761 12498

Unrealized loss on financial contracts 11098

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 42436 39859 12498

As at December31 2011 total of 69500 ounces of past palladium production that had been delivered and sold to the smelter was priced using forward prices for the

month of final settlement at an average price of $697 per ounce December 31 2010 68950 ounces at an average price of $640 per ounce Refer to Notes and 15
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10 LEASES

At the respective reporting dates the Company was party to the following leasing arrangements

FINANCE LEASES OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

The Company leases production equipment under number of finance lease agreements Some leases provide the Company with the option

to purchase the equipment at beneficial price The leased equipment secures lease obligations The net carrying amount of leased plant

and equipment at each reporting date is summarized in Note under the category of equipment under finance leases

The following is schedule of future minimum lease payments under finance leases together with the present value of the net minimum

lease payments at each reporting date

December 31 2011 December 31 2010 January 2010

Present Presont Present

Future Value of Future Value of Future Value of

minimum minimum minimum minimum minimum minimum

lease lease iense lease lease lease

payments Interest payments payments Interent paymnntn payments intorest paymento

Lessthanoneyear 2617 249 2428 1307 111 1196 605 47 558

Betuvtenonenndfiveyears 2228 124 2104 1253 58 1195 619 43 576

More than five years

4905 373 4532 2560 169 2391 1224 90 1134

Less current portion
2428 1196 558

2104 1195 576

OPERATING LEASES

The Company from time to time enters into leasing arrangements for production and other equipment under number of operating leases

These leases are generally short-term in nature and subject to cancellation clauses The Company periodically reviews the nature of these

leases to identify if there have been any significant changes to the terms and use of the items under operating lease which would require

reclassification as finance lease Such changes are considered to indicate renewal of the lease terms and the reclassification is applied

prospectively from the date the revised lease terms become effective

The following schedule provides the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases outstanding at each of the

reporting dates

At December31 At December31 At January

2011 2010 2010

Lessthan one year 3783 2057 659

Between one and five years 2918 1611 602

Morethanfiveyears 193 447 95

6894 4115 1356

The total minimum lease payments recognized in expense during each of the stated year end periods are as follows

At December31 At December31

2011 2010

Minimum lease payments expensed 3631 1725
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11 PROVISIONS

In conjunction with the acquisition of Cadiscor Resources Inc in 2009 the Company assumed an obligation in the amount of $1000 payable

in cash or by the issuance of common shares of the Company upon achieving specified production target of 300000 milled tonnes of ore

at its Sleeping Giant mill Based on stated production targets the Company expects to achieve the production target within the next twelve

months therefore the provision is reflected in current liabilities There have been no changes to this provision in any of the reporting

periods reflected in these consolidated statements

12 LONG-TERM DEBT

During the fourth quarter of 2011 the Company issued $72.0 million of senior secured notes by way of private placement for net proceeds

of $69.6 million The notes which mature on October 42014 with one-year extension at the option of the Company were issued in $1000

denominations and bear interest at rate of 9.25% per year payable semi-annually

The Company also issued one warrant with each $1000 note Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase 0.35 ounces of palladium at

purchase price of US$620 the Strike Price per ounce anytime up to October 2014 If the warrants are exercised settlement will occur

in cash with the Company paying each warrant held bythe note holderthe difference between the average of the U.S dollar palladium

afternoon fixing price per ounce on the London Platinum and Palladium Market for the ten trading days prior to the exercise date less the

Strike Price multiplied by 0.35 Alternatively the Company has the option to settle the amount owing to the warrant holder at 7% discount

to the 5-day weighted average market price of the common shares of the Company at the date of exercise At December31 2011 the value

of the warrants was $4968 including loss recognized in the Companys consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss of $462

The debt agreement included the debt financing and embedded derivatives relating to the warrants warrants settlement and extension

options relating to the notes which are available to the Company and the lender Where applicable the embedded derivatives which were

not closely related to the debt financings were segregated and grouped for valuation and reporting purposes The embedded derivatives

relating to the debt financing are recorded at fair value through profit or loss at each reporting date

On the October 42011 issue date and at December 31 2011 the warrants and related options were valued using binomial model which

included the following key assumptions

December31 October

2011 2011

Market price of palladium
636 588

Strike price
620 620

Volatility
43% 44%

Risk free rate 0.98% 1.02%

Expected life in years 2.76 3.00

The debt financing was initially
valued on October 2011 at the net value of the proceeds from the debt issue after deducting the derivative

valuations Transaction costs were allocated to the debt financing on pro-rata basis of assigned fair value at October 42011 The net

value of the debt is amortized using the effective interest rate method over the remaining term of the debt with interest and accretion

charges being recognized through profit and loss in the period incurred Interest charges have been capitalized as borrowing costs and

included in mining interests Note An effective interest rate of 13% has been applied

13 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

At the respective reporting dates the Companys subsidiaries are as follows

Ownership interest

Country of At December31 At December31 At January

incorporation 2011 2010 2010

Lac des lIes Mines Ltd LDI Canada 100% 100% 100%

NAP Quebec Mines Ltd NAP Quebec

formerly Cadiscor Resources Inc.CRI Canada 100% 100% 100%
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Transactions with Key Management Personnel

Key management personnel compensation

The Company provides non-cash benefits to directors and executive officers and contributes to defined contribution plan on their behalf

in addition to regular salaried amounts In accordance with the terms of the Corporate Stock Option plan directors and executive officers

are entitled to receive stock-based compensation on an annual basis through participation in the Companys group registered retirement

savings plan and through incentives issued underthe Companys corporate stock option and restricted share unit plans Referto Note 14

Summary of key management personnel compensation

December31 December31

2011 2010

Short-term employee benefits 2709 2723

Post employment benefits 72 25

Share-based payments
2339 2821

5120 5569

14 SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Authorized and Issued Capital Stock

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares

Common share purchase warrants

The changes in issued common share purchase warrants for the period end are summarized below

As at December31 2011 As at December31 2010

Warrants Amount Warrants Amount

Balance beginning of period 13837924 5113 9530000 2546

Issued pursuant to unit offerings net of issue costs 10000000 4423

Warrants exercised 5009986 1239 5692016 1856

Warrants expired 8827938 3874

Balance end of period
13837924 5113

In September 2009 the Company completed an equity offering for total net proceeds of $46455 In October 2009 the Company issued

additional units for total net proceeds of $7121 Each whole warrant Series warrants entitled the holder to purchase an additional

common share at price of $4.25 subject to adjustment at any time on or prior
to September 30 2011 Since the 20-day volume

weighted average price of the common shares on the TSX was equal to or greater than $5.75 per share las per the acceleration event

in the warrant indenture on December 82010 the Company announced the acceleration of the expiry of the Series warrants to

January 14 2011 During the first quarter of 2011 $21.3 million of proceeds were received from the exercise of 5009986 Series

warrants Total proceeds of $38.8 million were received from the exercise of Series warrants and 67938 Series warrants were not

exercised prior to expiry

On
April 28 2010 the Company completed an equity offering of 20000000 units at price of $5.00 per unit for total net proceeds of

$94227 issue costs $5773 Each unit consists of one common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant of the

Company Each whole warrant Series warrants entitles the holder to purchase an additional common share at price of $6.50

subject to adjustment at anytime prior to October 28 2011 As at December 31 2010 1240000 Series warrants were exercised for

total proceeds of $8.1 million On October 28 2011the remaining Series warrants expired
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Group Registered Retirement Savings Plan

The Company has group registered retirement savings plan in which eligible employees can participate at their option The Company

is required to make contributions on quarterly basis equivalent to 3% of eligible employees base compensation and up to an

additional 2% matching per employee per annum made either in cash or treasury shares of the Company The maximum number of

common shares available for grant shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company including the

issuance under the Corporate Stock Option Plan and other securities-based compensation plans If the matching contribution is made

in treasury shares the price per share issued is the 5-day volume weighted average trading price of the common shares on the

Toronto Stock Exchange TSX preceding the end of the quarter During the year ended December 312011 the Company contributed

203252 shares with fair value of $841 2010 85093 shares with fair value of $339

Flow-through Share Offering

On February 18 2011 the Company completed flow-through share offering of 2667000 flow-through common shares The Company is

required to spend gross proceeds of $22000 on Canadian exploration expenses prior to December 31 2012 which was fulfilled by

December3l2011

Corporate Stock Option Plan

The Company has Corporate Stock Option Plan the Plan under which eligible directors officers employees and consultants of the

Company may receive options to acquire common shares The Plan is administered by the Board of Directors which will determine after

considering recommendations made by the Compensation Committee the number of options to be issued the exercise price which is

the 5-day volume weighted average trading price of the common shares on the TSX on the trading day prior
to the grant date expiration

dates of each option the extent to which each option is exercisable Iprovided that the term of an option shall not exceed 10 years from

the date of grant as well as establishing the time period should the optionee cease to be an Eligible Person as set forth in the

conditions of the Plan One third of options granted vest on each of the first three anniversary dates of the date of grant

The maximum number of common shares available for grant shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the

Company including the issuance under the Group Retirement Savings Plan and other securities-based compensation plans As at

December 31 20115853717 options December 3120105968386 options January 120101511190 options were available to be

granted under the Plan

The following summary sets out the activity in outstanding common share purchase options

As at December31 2011 As at December31 2010

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price

Outstanding beginning of period 3847833 422 3057800 3.50

Granted 213000 5.45 1105000 6.14

Exercised 317919 2.13 124634 2.78

Cancelled 158331 5.73 190333 4.80

Forfeited

Outstanding end of period 3644583 4.43 3847833 4.22

Options exercisable at end of period 2439925 4.06 1742833 364

For the year ended December 31 2011 the weighted average share price on the dates common share purchase options were

exercised was $3.57 2010 $6.00

The following table summarizes information about the Companys stock options outstanding at December 31 2011

Average Options Options

remaining Outstanding Exercisable

contractual life at at

Exercise price range years December3l2011 December3l2011

1.853.00 4.83 974750 908084

$3.003.50 4.38 1181666 830005

3.506.50 4.91 1181667 518336

6.5012.00 252 306500 183500

4.51 3644583 2439925
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The fair value of options granted during 2011 and 2010 has been estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing

model with the following weighted average assumptions

December31 December31

2011 2010

Awards granted 273000 1105000

Weighted average fair value of awards 2.91 3.21

Pre-vest forfeiture rate l4% 13%

Grantprice 5.45 6.14

Market price 5.53 6.05

Volatility 65% 66%

Risk-free rate 2.04Io 2.31%

Dividend yield 0% 0%

Expected life in years 4.3 4.5

Pre-vest forfeiture rate

The historical forfeiture rate is estimated at each reporting date based on previous data regarding pre-vest cancellations of options

due to employee departures or terminations

Volatility

Volatility is the projected magnitude of change in price of the common shares of the Company on an annual basis based on historical

prices of the common shares excluding time periods with unusual business and market conditions that result in extreme volatility that

is not indicative of the future

Reconciliation of the diluted number of shares outstanding

For the years ended December 31 2011 and December 31 2010 the effect of stock options and warrants has not been included in the

determination of diluted loss per share because to do so would be anti-dilutive

Other Stock-Based Compensation Restricted Share Unit Plan

The Company has Restricted Share Unit RSU Plan under which
eligible directors officers and key employees of the Company are

entitled to receive awards of restricted share units Each restricted share unit is equivalent in value to the fair market value of

common share of the Company on the date of the award and corresponding liability is established on the balance sheet The RSU

Plan is administered by the Board of Directors which will determine after considering recommendations made by the Compensation

Committee the number and timing of restricted share units to be awarded and their vesting periods not to exceed three years The

value of each award is charged to compensation expense over the period of vesting At each reporting date the compensation

expense and liability are adjusted to reflect the changes in market value of the liability based on the fair values of RSUs for each

vesting period determined using the Black-Scholes model

As at December 31 2011 129418 December 31201090599 January 12010256882 restricted share units had been granted and

were outstanding at an aggregate value of $237 December 31 2010$312 January 12010 $987

Shareholder Rights Plan

On May 112011 the Companys shareholders approved the adoption of shareholder rights plan The primary objectives of the

shareholder rights plan are to ensure shareholders are given fair treatment in the event of any takeover bid for the Companys common

shares and provide Shareholders adequate time to properly evaluate an offer The Shareholder Rights Plan provides for the issuance

of one right for each outstanding common share of the Company on the occurrence of certain events

Summary of Share-based Compensation and Employee Benefits

The following table details the components of share-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31

At December31 At December31

2011 2010

Registered retirement savings plan 841 339

Common share purchase options 2563 1572

Restricted share units 135 245

3539 2156
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15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments credit risk market risk currency risk interest rate

risk commodity price risk and liquidity risk

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if customer or counterparty to financial instrument fails to meet its contractual

obligations The Companys exposure arises principally from its short term interest bearing deposits and accounts receivable Historically

the Company has not experienced any losses related to individual customers The Company invests its cash and cash equivalents primarily

with major Canadian bank

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting

date was

At December31 At December31 AtJanuaryl

2011 2010 2010

Cash and cash equivalents 50935 15159 98255

Accounts receivable 73048 80683

Other assets 10560 24996 1330

134543 180838 99585

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices

Market risk is comprised of currency interest rate and commodity price risks In addition the Company is exposed to market risk relating to

fluctuations in the share price of the Companys common shares as result of the RSU plan which is mark-to-market at each period end

Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign

exchange rates Currency risk is related to the portion of the Companys business transactions denominated in currencies other than

Canadian dollars The Company is exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates due to certain of its foreign based suppliers and revenues

being in foreign currencies The Companys primary exposure is based upon the movements of the U.S dollar against the Canadian

dollar The Companys foreign exchange risk management includes from time to time the use of foreign currency forward contracts to

fix exchange rates on certain foreign currency exposures The Company had not entered into any foreign exchange contracts on

future production in 2011 or 2010

For the Companys foreign exchange transactions fluctuations in the respective exchange rates relative to the Canadian dollar will

create volatility in the Companys cash flows and the reported amounts for revenue production and exploration costs on year-to-

year basis Additional earnings volatility arises from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other

than Canadian dollars at the rates of exchange at each balance sheet date the impact of which is reported as separate component

of revenue or foreign exchange gain or loss in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss

The Company is exposed to the following currency risk on cash purchases and borrowings at December31 2011

uss

Cash 3898

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 370

3529

1% strengthening or weakening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S dollar assuming that all other variables remained the same
would have resulted in an approximate $35 decrease or increase respectively in the Companys statement of loss and comprehensive

loss forthe year ended December 31 2011

The Companys revenue is affected by currency exchange rates such that weakening in the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S

dollar will result in additional revenues and strengthening in the Canadian dollar will result in reduced revenues

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market

interest rates The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes The Company does not hold

any specific hedging instruments nor does it hold any short term investments that would be significantly impacted from fluctuations in

interest rates Any interest rate fluctuations realized are expected to be offset by favourable changes in the interest on debt instruments

Management does not believe that the net impact of interest rate fluctuations on the current level of borrowings and short term

investments will be significant and therefore has not provided sensitivity analysis of this impact on net earnings
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Commodity Price Risk

Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in

commodity prices The Company is particularly exposed to fluctuations in commodity prices from its sale of metals From time to time

the Company may enter into forward commodity sales contracts to hedge the effect on revenues of changes in the price of metals it

produces Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments used to mitigate metal price risk are recognized in revenue from metal

sales over the term of the hedging contract

The Company enters into financial contracts to mitigate the smelter agreements provisional pricing exposure to
rising or declining

palladium prices and an appreciating Canadian dollar for past production already sold The total of these financial contracts represent

69500 ounces as at December 31 2011 These contracts mature from January 2012 through June 2012 at an average forward price of

$697 per ounce or $US699 per ounce For substantially all of the palladium delivered to the customer under the smelter agreement

the quantities and timing of settlement specified in the financial contracts matches final pricing settlement periods The palladium

financial contracts are being recognized on mark-to-market basis as an adjustment to revenue The fair value of these contracts at

December 31 2011 was an asset of $1951 included in accounts receivable December 31 2010 $11098 liability included in accounts

payable and accrued liabilities

The Company issued $72.0 million of senior secured notes by way of private placement for net proceeds of $69.6 million The

Company also issued one warrant with each $1000 note Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase 0.35 ounces of palladium at

purchase price of US$620 the Strike Price per ounce anytime up to October 42014 If the warrants are exercised settlement will

occur in cash with the Company paying each warrant held by the note holder the difference between the average of the U.S dollar

palladium afternoon fixing price per ounce on the London Platinum and Palladium Market for the ten trading days prior to the exercise

date less the Strike Price multiplied by 0.35 Alternatively the Company has the option to settle the amount owing to the warrant

holder at 7% discount to 5-day weighted average market price of the common shares of the Company at the date of exercise At

December 31 2011 the value of the warrants was $4968 including loss recognized in the Companys consolidated statement of loss

and comprehensive loss of $462

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due The Companys approach to

managing liquidity risk is to monitor the timing of sales and receivables to ensure sufficient cash flows are generated from operations

to meet the current debt requirements Where insufficient liquidity may exist the Company may pursue various debt and equity

instruments for short or long term financing of its operations

The table below analyzes the Companys financial liabilities which will be settled into relevant maturity groupings based on the

remaining balances at December 31 2011 to the contractual maturity date

In less than Between year More than

Total year and Years years

Accounts payable and accrued liabibties 42436 42436

Obligations under finance leases 4532 2428 2104

Provisions 1000 1000

Current derivative liability 4875 4875

Long-term debt 65698 65698

The Company also has asset retirement obligations in the amount of $20881 that would become payable at the time of the closures of

its LDI mine Sleeping Giant mill Sleeping Giant mine and Vezza Gold Project The Company issued letters of credit of $10552 As

result $10329 of funding is required prior
to or upon closure of these properties Refer to Note for additional disclosure regarding

these amounts The majority of the asset retirement costs are expected to be incurred within one year of mine closure and an

application must be made to receive funds on deposit

Management monitors consolidated cash flow in detail on daily basis monthly through month-end reporting quarterly through

forecasting and yearly through the budget process Based on the financial liabilities due and noted above the Company expects to

have sufficient operating cash flow exceeding the amounts due

Fair Values

The Companys financial assets and liabilities consist of cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable other assets reclamation

deposits accounts payable and accrued liabilities current derivative liabilities obligations under finance leases provisions and long

term debt

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at fair value The carrying value of other assets and trade accounts payable and accrued

liabilities approximate their fair values due to the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments

The fair value of the obligations under finance leases approximate their carrying value due to the interest rate implicit in the leases

approximating interest rates available at this time for similar lease terms The fair value of RSUs are determined as described in Note 14
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Derivatives

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their listed market price if available If listed market price is not available

then fair value is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward price and the current forward price for the

residual maturity of the contract using risk-free interest rate

Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take into account the credit risk of the Company entity

and counterparty when appropriate

The Company enters into financial contracts to mitigate the smelter agreements provisional pricing exposure to rising or declining

palladium prices and an appreciating Canadian dollar for past production already sold For substantially all of the palladium delivered to the

customer under the smelter agreement the quantities and timing of settlement specified in the financial contracts matches final pricing

settlement periods The palladium financial contracts are being recognized on mark-to-market basis as an adjustment to revenue

Non-derivative Financial Liabilities

Fair value which is determined for disclosure purposes is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash

flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date For finance leases the market rate of interest is determined by

reference to similar lease agreements

Fair Value Hierarchy

The table below details the assets and liabilities measured at fair value at December 31 2011

Quoted Prices Significant

in Aclive Other Significant

Markets for Observable Unobservable

Identical Assets Inputs Inputs Aggregate

Level Level Level Fair Value

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 50935 50935

Accounts receivable Note 71097 71091

Fair value of financial contracts Note 1951 1951

Financial liabilities

RSU liabilities 237 237

Fair value of current derivative liability Note 12 4875 4875

Net carrying value 50935 67936 118871

As detailed in Note the asset relating to the mark to market on financial contracts is included in the carrying value of accounts receivable and accrued liabilities

on the balance sheet ASU liabilities are measured at fair value based on the Black-Scholes valuation model at each
reporting date and are included in tho balance

of accounts payable and accrued liabilities

16 COMMITMENTS

Sheridan Platinum Group of Companies SPG Commitment

The Company is required to pay 5% net smelter royalty to SPG from mining operations at the Lac des lies mine This obligation is recorded

as royalty expense

Operating Leases and Other Purchase Obligations

As at December 31 2011 the Company had outstanding operating lease commitments and other purchase obligations of $6894 and $110612

respectively December 31 2010 $4115 and $37189 respectively all of which had maturities of less than five years with the exception of

$193 of operating leases with maturity greater than five years December 31 2010$447

Letters of Credit

As at December 31 2011 the Company had outstanding letters of credit of $12.0 million consisting of letters of credit for mine closure

deposits of $8466 $1769 and $317 relating to the LDI SG and Shebandowan properties respectively There are also letters of credit of

$1498 required as part of regulatory requirement by third party supplier for purchases made by the LDI mine
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17 REVENUE FROM METAL SALES

Other

Total Palladium Platinum Gold Nickel Copper Metals

2011

Year ended December31

Revenue before

pricing adjustments 115293 107035 15369 31384 1914 6133 1458

Pricing adiustments

Commodities 5407 3229 1691 223 361 326 23

Foreign exchange 586 198 189 167 32

Revenueafterpricingadjustments 170472 104004 13861 37774 7585 5804 1438

2010

Year ended December31

Revenue before

pricing adjustments 99714 56887 8280 27196 4198 2443 710

Pricing adjustments

Commodities 8941 7417 649 428 183 275 11

Foreign exchange 1557 953 270 172 98 59

Revenue after pricing adjustments 107098 63351 8659 27452 4283 2659 694

During 2011 the Company delivered all of its concentrate to two customers under the terms of the respective agreements In 2010 the

Company delivered all of its concentrate to one customer under the terms of the agreement

Although the Company sells its refined metals to limited number of customers it is not economically dependent upon any one customer as

there are other markets throughout the world for the Companys metals

18 INTEREST AND OTHER COSTS INCOME

2011 2010

Finance expense

Interestonfinanceleases 157 142

Financing costs 767

Asset retirement obligation accretion 337 209

Accretion expense on long-term debt 457

Interest expense 396 424

Unrealized loss on palladium warrants 460

2574 775

Finance and other income

Gain on renouncement of flow-through expenditures 1840

Interest income 977 2861

Gain on investments 56

2817 2917

243 2142

19 CONTINGENCIES

From time to time the Company is involved in litigation investigations or proceedings related to claims
arising out of its operations in the

ordinary course of business In 2011 the Company was made aware of Statement of Claim that had been filed against the Company and

two of its officers regarding potential class action lawsuit The Conipany has retained legal counsel and intends to vigorously defend the

potential claim The Company does not believe the Statement of Claim has any merit and has accordingly not recorded any associated

provisions within its consolidated financial statements at December 31 2011
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20 INCOME TAXES

Rate Reconciliation

The provision for income and mining taxes differs from the amount that would have resulted by applying the combined Canadian Federal and

Ontario statutory income tax rates of approximately 28% 2010 31%
December31 December31

2011 2010

Income tax expense/recovery using statutory income tax rates 17556 9462

Increase decrease resulting from

Resource allowance deemed income 315

Non-taxable portion of capital
losses gains 296

Losses not tax benefited 17484 8617

Non-deductible expenses 730 443

Ontario Harmonization Transitional tax in respect of the prior period 2387 280

Other 107 100

Recognition of previously unrecognized tax benefits related to expiration
of warrants1 555 542

Interest expense deductible for tax purposes 444

Difference in statutory tax rates 214 104

Quebec mining duties 1282 127

Income and mining tax expense recovery 3007 1112

Tax recovery on the expiration
of share

purchase warrants whereas the deferred tax liability was charged to Contributed Surplus

The statutory tax rate decreased from 2010 to 2011 due to reduction in Canadian Federal and Ontario rates over the period

Components of Income tax expense

The details of the Companys income and mining tax expense recovery are as follows

December31 December31

2011 2010

Current income tax expense recovery

Income taxes

Adjustments for prior period 2280 697

Mining taxes

Current period 1936 137

Adjustments for prior period2 161 109

505 943

Deferred income tax expense recovery

Income taxes 555 542

Mining taxes 3057 373

2502 169

Total 3007 1112

Impact
of proposed CRA reassessment received in 201 related to the Companyt Ontario harmonization tax liability

Impact of tax legislation substantively enacted in 2011 that affects the tax obligations of prior years

Deferred tax liabilities

The following table summarizes the components of deferred income and mining tax

December31 December31 January

2011 2010 2010

Deferred mining tax liabilities

Gold Mining interests 4264 1201 832

Deferred tax liabilities net 4264 1207 832
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Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred income and mining tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items

December31

2011

December31

2010

Loss carryforwards 89862 61313

Deductible temporary differences income taxes 33599 28062

Deductible temporary differences mining taxes 9183 6640

The tax losses not recognized expire as per the amount and years noted below The deductible temporary differences do not expire under

current tax legislation Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable

profit will be available against which the Company can utilize the benefits therefrom

Income Tax Attributes not recognized

As at December 312011 the Company had the following approximate income tax attributes to carry forward

Amount Expiry Date

Non-capital losses 352193 20152031

Capital losses 7243 Indefinite

Undepreciated capital cost allowance 172018 Indefinite

Tax basis of mineral interests 116649 Indefinite

21 OTHER DISCLOSURES

Statement of Cash Flows

The net changes in non-cash working capital balances related to operations are as follows

2011 2010

Cash provided by used in

Accounts receivable 7635 80683

Inventories and stockpiles 7436 1953

Other assets 3481 5279

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2823 21417

Other financial liabilities 56

Taxes payable recoverable 1441 1167

12912 61721

Salaries and Benefits

For the year ended December31 2011 total salaries and benefits for the Company was $44272 compared to $33884 for the year ended

December 31 2010

22 SEGMENT INFORMATON

The Company is Canadian based and is in the business of exploring and mining palladium platinum gold and certain base metals Its

operations are organized into three reportable segments palladium operations include the palladium mine and mill gold operations

include the Sleeping Giant gold mine and mill and corporate and other The palladium and gold operations include activities related to

exploration evaluation and development mining and milling The corporate and other segment includes general corporate expenses and

other projects not allocated to the other segments The Companys revenue by significant producttype is disclosed in Note 17 The

Companys segments are summarized in the following table
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As at and during the periods ended December 31 2011 December 31 2010 and January 12010 segmented information is presented

as follows

At December 31 2011 At December 31 2010 At January 2010

Palladium Gold Corporate Palladium Gold Corporate Palladium Gold Corporate

operations operations and other Total operations operotiena nod other Total operations oporati005 and other Total

Cash and cash

equivalents 1456 11 49408 50935 3232 2013 73940 75159 689 576 96990 98255

Accounts

receivable 13048 73048 80683 80683

Inventories 12342 7704 20046 19673 7814 27487 19649 5657 25306

Other current

assets 5558 9033 1266 15851 4308 3048 20929 28285 708 1510 481 2699

Mining interests 211505 44433 221 256159 64465 61376 445 126286 33516 51165 333 85014

Other eon

currentassets 8438 1769 330 10537 8406 1769 328 10503

Total assets 303909 61241 50895 416045 180799 71994 95644 348437 62968 60677 98132 221777

Accounts payable

and accrued

liabilities 27564 12184 3403 43151 27463 9363 3033 39859 3339 4160 4943 12442

Obligations under

finance leases 4314 218 4532 2326 65 2391 1104 30 1134

Provisions 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000

Asset retiremeet

obligations 13905 6976 20881 7897 4697 12594 9077 4525 13602

Other liabilities 2647 4264 4.876 11787 935 1207 2143 1571 832 58 2461

Long-term debt 65698 65698

Total liabilities 48430 24642 73977 141.049 38621 16332 3034 57987 15091 10547 5001 30639

Year eoded December31 2011 Year ended Dscomber 31 2010

Palladium Gold Corporate Palladium Gold Corporate

operations operations and other Total operations operations and other Total

Revenueafter pricing adjustments 143659 26813 170472 84813 22285 107098

Depreciation and amortization 9961 7460 183 11604 5396 10066 128 15590

Gold asuets impairment charge 49210 49210

Operating expenses 105.111 31628 136739 54924 28496 83420

Income loss from mining operations 28587 61.485 183 33081 24493 16277 1281 8088

Other expenses

General and administration 429 82 11.112 12283 206 181 10261 10648

Exploration 9834 6128 105 16661 13998 15004 1124 30126

Other 289 77 250 116 201 760 3126 2165

Income loss before taxes 18.035 68372 11.810 62147 10088 32222 8387 30521

Income and mieing tao expense recovery 2388 1174 555 3.007 671 1011 542 1112

Net income loss and comprehensive income loss for the period 15647 69546 11.255 65154 10759 323231 17845 29409

Vearended Decemher3l2011 Year ondod Docombsr3l 2010

Palladium Gold Corporate Palladium Gold Corporate

operations operatioes and other Total operations oporationo and other Total

Additions to mining interests 148309 37324 185633 35732 13632 49364

For additional discussion relating to reliance on customers refer to accounts receivable in Note and revenue from metal sales in Note 17

23 FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS

For all periods up to and including the year ended December 31 2010 the Company prepared its consolidated financial statements in

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles Canadian GAAP For all periods from January 2011 onwards the

Company has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS
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Transition to IFRS

To transition to IFRS the Company must apply IFRS First Time Adoption of IFRS that sets out the rules for first time adoption In general

IFRS requires an entity to comply with each IFRS effective at the reporting date for the entitys first IFRS financial statements This requires

that an entity apply IFRS to its opening IFRS balance sheet as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the entitys

first IFRS financial statements being January 12010

The accompanying reconciliations reflect the impact of the applicable IFRS elections the Company has applied in its transition to IFRS The adjusted

consolidated balance sheets also reflect the impact of accounting policy
differences

arising
from the transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS

The Company has prepared consolidated financial statements which comply with IFRS applicable for periods beginning on or after January

2011 and the significant accounting policies meeting those requirements are described in Note of these consolidated financial statements

Exemptions applied under IFRS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS the Company has applied certain of the optional exemptions

and all mandatory exceptions from full retrospective application of IFRS

Optional Exemptions From Full Retrospective Application

In the first year of adoption IFRS allows optional exemptions from the general requirements to apply certain IFRS standards in effect

when the Company prepares its annual financial statements The following summarizes the optional exemptions under IFRS and

related elections available to the Company

Business combinations exemption

The Company has elected to applythe business combinations exemption As result the Company has not restated business

combinations or otherwise applied IFRS Business Combinations to any acquisitions of subsidiaries or of interests in associates and

joint ventures that occurred before the Companys January 2010 transition date

Share-based payment transaction exemption

The Company has elected to apply the share-based payment exemption As result IFRS Share-based Payment has not been applied

to any equity instruments that were granted on or before November 2002 nor has it been applied to equity instruments granted after

November 2002 that vested before the date of transition of January 2010 For cash-settled share-based payment arrangements

the Company has not applied IFRS 2to liabilities that were settled before January 12010

Fair value as deemed cost exemption

The Company has elected to utilize the fair value as deemed cost exemption for the valuation of certain assets located at its LDI and

Sleeping Giant mines By making this election the Company is permitted to measure certain items of property plant and equipment at fair

values determined on or before January 12010 with appropriate retrospective adjustments applied under IFRS during the period reflected

in the opening IFRS balance sheet at January 12010 Other mining interests have been recorded under IFRS using historical costs

Compound financial instruments exemption

Under this exemption first-time adopter need not separate the liability and equity components under the lAS 32 requirements if the

liability component is no longer outstanding on January 12010 transition date Since various compound financial instruments in the

form of convertible notes debentures and unit offerings with foreign-denominated warrants have been used by the Company in recent

years the Company has elected to apply this exemption relating to compound instruments

Designation of previously recognized financial instruments exemption

This exemption permits an election to initially recognize certain financial instruments as available-for-sale or designate certain

instruments as being at fair value through profit or loss at the date of transition Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries possessed

financial assets or liabilities at January 2010 which would benefit from the application of this exemption Therefore the Company

has elected not to apply this exemption to its IFRS consolidated financial statements

Fair value measurement of financial assets or liabilities at initial recognition

This exemption restricts the fair value approach under lAS 39 requiring consistent application of the methodology to be applied

prospectively from October 25 2002 or January 2004 As result of other IFRS exemptions and standards applied the Company and

its subsidiaries financial assets and liabilities reflected in the January 2010 IFRS consolidated opening balance sheet relate to the

period after the specified dates for prospective application and would therefore not benefit from the application of this election As

result the Company has elected not to apply this exemption to its IFRS consolidated financial statements

Decommissioning liabilities included in the cost of property plant and equipment exemption

The Company recognizes an asset retirement obligation ARO in respect of environmental liabilities relating to contamination caused to

land decommissioning of
existing production facilities and reclamation of mining properties The election in IFRS provides an exemption

from the full retrospective application of IFRIC Changes in existing decommissioning restoration and similar liabilities and permits the

determination of revised ARO provision and related adjustment to the net ARO asset value at the transition date of January 12010

The Company has elected to apply the exemption from full retrospective application
of decommissioning provisions as allowed under IFRS

As result the Company has re-measured its ARO provisions as at January 12010 under lAS 37 Provisions Contingent Liabilities and

Contingent Assets estimated the amount to be included in the cost of the related asset by discounting the liability to the date at which the

liability first arose using best estimates of the historical risk adjusted discount rates and recalculatad the accumulated amortization under

IFRS up to the transition date
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Borrowing costs exemption

All material borrowings have been repaid in full prior to the January 12010 transition date Therefore this election has not been

applied within the consolidated financial statements of the Company as at the January 12010 transition date and subsequent periods

Reconciliations between IFRS and Canadian GAAP

The following reconciliations summarize the effect of the transition to IFRS on the Companys previously reported balances

Reconciliation of Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 312010 January 12010

Effect of Effect of

transition transition

Notes GAAP to IFRS IFRS GAAP to IFRS IFRS

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 75159 75159 98255 98255

Accounts receivable 80683 80683

Taxes receivable 734 734 204 204

Inventories 27487 27487 25306 25306

Other assets 27551 27551 2495 2495

211614 211614 126260 126260

Non-current Assets

Mining interests 126196 90 126286 82448 2566 85014

Reclamation deposits 10537 10537 10503 10503

Total assets 348347 90 348437 219211 2566 221777

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EOUITY

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 40799 940 39859 11195 1247 12442

Current portion of obligations under

capital leases 1196 1196 558 558

Provisions 1000 1000 1000 1000

Other financial liabilities 56 56

41995 60 42055 11753 2303 14056

Non-current Liabilities

Taxes payable 936 936 1573 1573

Assetretirementobligations 11637 957 12594 12921 681 13602

Obligations under capital leases 1195 1195 576 576

Deferred mining tax liability 1207 1207 127 705 832

56970 1017 57987 26950 3689 30639

Shareholders Equity

Common share capital

and purchase warrants 697846 4941 702787 583089 8211 574878

Stock options and related surplus 5069 527 5596 3896 346 4242

Contributed surplus 24861 19324 553 18416 12337 6079

Deficit 436399 12929 423470 413140 19079 394061

Total shareholders equity 291377 927 290450 192261 1123 191138

Total shareholders equity and liabilities 348347 90 348437 219211 2566 221777
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Reconciliation of Consolidated Statements of Operations Comprehensive Loss

Year ended December 312010

Eftect of

Notes GAAP transition to IFRS IFRS

Revenuebefore pricing adjustments 99714 99714

Pricing adjustments

Commodities 8941 8941

Foreign exchange 1557 1557

Revenueafter pricing adjustments 107098 107098

Operating expenses

Production costs 74709 74709

Royalty expense 4202 4202

Smelting refining and freight costs 4779 4779

Inventory pricing adlustments

Depreciation and amortization ah 13175 2415 15590

Loss on disposal of equipment 270 270

Total operating expenses 96595 2415 99010

Income loss from mining operations 10503 2415 8088

Other expenses

General and administration 10676 28 10648

Exploration 30126 30126

Interest and other income de 282 2424 2142

Foreign exchange loss gain 23 23

Total other expenses 41061 12452 38609

Income loss before taxes 30558 37 30521

Income and mining tax recovery expense 7299 6187 1112

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year 23259 6150 29409

Net income loss per share

Basic and diluted 0.16 0.05 0.21

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic 141537377 141537377

Diluted 141537377 141537377
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Reconciliation of Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year ended December 312010

Effect of

Notes GAAP transition to IFRS IFRS

Cash provided by used in

Operations

Net income loss for the period 23259 6150 29409

Operating items not involving cash

Depreciation and amortization 13115 2415 15590

Deferred income and mining tax expense recovery 6356 6187 169

Stock based compensation and employee benefits 1752 159 1911

Loss on disposal of equipment 270 210

Other 686 368 318

14272 2243 12029

Changes in non-cash working capital 59478 2243 61721

13750 73150

Financing Activities

Issuance of common shares and warrants net of issue costs 101074 101014

Repayment of obligations under
capital

leases 1121 1721

Interest paid on capital leases 142 142

99211 99211

Investing Activities

Additions to mining interests 49364 49364

Proceeds on disposal of mining interests 801 807

48551 48557

Increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 23096 23096

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 98255 98255

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 15159 75159

Cash and cash equivalents consisting of

Cash 75159 75159

Short-term investments

Total assets 75159 75159

Reconciliation of Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity

Total

Number of Capital Shares Stock Contributed shareholders

shares stock issuable options Warrants surplus Deficit equity

Balance

December 31 2009

as reported under

Canadian GAAP 127383051 572505 2704 10584 19608 413140 192261

Reallocation of

equity not related

to IFRS transition 1192 1192

Net impact of IFRS

transition adjustments 173 346 8038 12337 19079 1123

Balance January

2010 as reported

under IFRS 127383051 572332 4242 2546 6079 394061 191138
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Total

Number of Capital Shares Stock Contributed shareholders

shares stock issuable options Warrants surplus Deficit equity

Balance

December 31 2010

as reported under

Canadian GAAP 154653275 692733 3661 5113 26269 436399 291377

Reallocation of

equity not related

to IFRS transition 1408 1408

Net impact of IFRS

transition adjustments 4941 527 19324 12929 927

Balance December 31

2010 as reported

under IFRS 154653275 697674 5596 5113 5537 423470 290450

Explanation of the effect of the transition to IFRS

The following explains the material adjustments to the balance sheet and income statement

Mining interests
December31 January

2010 2010

Adjustment to asset retirement costs and related accumulated amortization 553 1861

ii Net adjustment to carrying value of assets due to deemed cost election under IFRS 705

iii Adjustments to depreciation and amortization of mining interests subsequent

to the January 2010 transition date due to revised carrying values under IFRS 463

Total adjustment at transition to IFRS 90 2566

Under IFRS exemptions the Company elected to determine the fair value of the ARO as at January 12010 and discountthat fair

value to determine the related asset and accumulated amortization As result recovery of accumulated amortization charges

was realized under IFRS and has been reflected in the opening mining interest balances

ii The Company has elected under IFRS ito apply the deemed cost exemption in respect of the LDI and Sleeping Giant mining

interests The valuation of the LDI property was deemed to be the fair value as determined at December 31 2008 For Sleeping

Giant mine the final fair values relating to the May 26 2009 acquisition date were elected as the deemed cost The change in

accumulated depreciation and amortization as at January 12010 as result of the deemed cost elections has been included to

reflect the net change in carrying values

In formation on impairment provisions

The recoverable amount of cash generating unit CGU is determined based on the greater of the CGUs fair value less cost to sell

and value-in-use calculations These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets and extended operational

plans approved by management

The Company performed an analysis of impairment of all CGUs as at January 12010 and at each subsequent reporting date As result of

those analyses it was concluded that the deemed costs assigned to CGUs were not impaired at the date of transition to IFRS or in each of the

subsequent reporting periods in 2010 and no modifications were required to be made to the useful lives and residual values of mining interests

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

December31 January

2010 2010

Ii Reclassification of premiums related to flow-through shares 2000

ii Reclassification of provisions included in accrued payables 1000 1000

iii Adjustments to accounting for restricted share units 60 247

Total adjustment at transition to IFRS 940 1247

In accordance with IFRS interpretations the premium of proceeds received on flow-through shares in excess of the market value

of the shares on the date of issue represents the value of the liability relating
to the transfer of income tax credits foregone and

owing to investors upon renunciation These liabilities have been reclassified from equity to liabilities and will be reversed and

recognized at the time that expenditures occur

ii Under Canadian GAAP certain contractual provisions were included as accrued payables Under IFRS these provisions have

been reclassified as provisions
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iii Under Canadian GAAP the liability relating to restricted share units RSUs which have vested and are outstanding is determined

based on the spot price for the Companys common shares at the end of the reporting period Under IFRS the valuation at the end of

the reporting period is based on fair value using valuation models which include consideration of the volatility of the underlying

common share pricing The Company determined the fair value under IFRS based on the use of the Black-Scholes model

cC Provisions

December31 January

2010 2010

Reclassification of provisions included in accrued payables 1000 1000

Total adjustment at transition to IFRS 1000 1000

Under Canadian GAAP certain contractual provisions were included as accrued payables Under IFRS these provisions have

been reclassified as current provisions

Other financial liabilities

December31 January

2010 2010

Ci Reclassification of foreign-denominated warrants under lAS 32 56

Total adjustment at transition to IFRS 56

Ci Under lAS 32 warrants and similar call options denominated in foreign currency which have not been issued on pro-rata

basis to all holders of the same class of shares are classified as liabilities The warrants relating to the convertible debentures

issued in 2006 were denominated in U.S dollars and were therefore reclassified accordingly on the balance sheet at January

2010 The two tranches of foreign-denominated warrants expired on March 29 2010 and June 23 2010 respectively

Asset retirement obligations
December31 January

2010 2010

Adjustments to the valuation of asset retirement obligations 1325 681

ii Differences realized due to accretion of adjusted obligation balances under IFRS 368

Total adjustment at transition to IFRS 957 681

Under IFRS exemptions the Company elected to determine the fair value of the ARO as at January 12010 As result of

differences between the methodology rates and assumptions required to be used under IFRS versus Canadian GAAP

transitional variance has been recognized at January 12010

ii Under IFRS accretion charges are reflected as financing costs Therefore these changes have been reclassified to interest and

other costs income on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss

Deferred mining tax liability
December31 January

2010 2010

Ci Net adjustment to deferred mining tax liability
due to deemed cost election

underlFRSl 705

Total adjustment at transition to IFRS 705

Ci The Company has elected under IFRS to apply the deemed cost exemption in respect of the LDI and Sleeping Giant mining interests

The valuation of the LDI property was deemed to be the fair value as determined at December 31 2008 For Sleeping Giant mine the final

fair values relating to the May 26 2009 acquisition date were elected as the deemed cost The change in deferred mining tax liability as

atJanuary 12010 is result oftemporary differences realized as result of the recognition of the change in accounting carrying values

Common share capital and purchase warrants
December31 January

2010 2010

Ci Reclassification of foreign-denominated warrants under lAS 32 8038

ii Reclassification of premiums related to flow-through shares 2000 2000

iii Adjustment to expense deferred income tax provision on flow-through

share renunciations priorto the January 2010 IFRS transition date 1827 1827

iv Future income tax on flow-through renunciations in 2010 5136

Cv Difference between IFRS and Canadian GAAP relating to valuation

of vested options exercised 22

Total adjustment at transition to IFRS 4941 8211
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Under lAS 32 warrants denominated in foreign currency which have not been issued on pro-rata basis to all holders of the

same class of shares are classified as liabilities The warrants relating to the convertible debentures issued in 2006 were

denominated in U.S dollars and were therefore reclassified accordingly on the balance sheet at January 12010

ii In accordance with IFRS interpretations the premium received on flow-through shares represents the value of the liability relating

to the transfer of income tax credits foregone and owing to investors upon renunciation These liabilities have been reclassified

from equity to liabilities and will be reversed at the time that renunciation of costs occurs

iii Under IFRS the issuance of flow-through shares results in an increase in liabilities and decrease in equity The liability related

to the sale of tax benefits is charged through profit or loss in the period the expenditures are made

iv During the first quarter of 2010 the Company fully
renounced expenditures relating to its 2009 flow-through share issuance Under

Canadian GAAP the estimated deferred income tax impact was charged to common stock Under IFRS the related balance was

reallocated to deferred income tax expense and recognized through profit or loss in the period

Stock options

December31 January

2010 2010

Adjustmentto compensation expense due to adoption of IFRS 527 346

Total adjustment at transition to IFRS 527 346

Under IFRS compensation expense is realized using the graduated method over all respective vesting periods with the inclusion

of provision for forfeiture based on historical non-vesting rates Under Canadian GAAP compensation expense is recognized on

straight-line basis over each vesting period

Contributed surplus
December31 January

2010 2010

Reclassification of foreign-denominated conversion option under lAS 32 12337 12337

ii Eliminate expiry of convertible notes warrants 8038

iii Eliminate deferred income tax provision relating to warrant expirations 1051

Total adjustment attransition to IFRS 19324 12337

Under lAS 32 warrants and similar call options denominated in foreign currency which have not been issued on pro-rata basis to

all holders of the same class of shares are classified as liabilities The conversion option relating to the Convertible Debentures issued

in 2006 were denominated in U.S dollars and were therefore reclassified accordingly on the balance sheet at January 12010

ii Under Canadian GAAP the warrants relating to the 2006 convertible note issuance were classified as equity for reporting purposes At

expiry the equity balance was reclassified to contributed surplus Under IFRS the foreign-denominated warrants are classified as

liabilities and revalued at their fair value at each reporting date with the change in value recognized through profit or loss in the period As

result the transition to IFRS required the Company to reverse the transactions under Canadian GAAP
relating to the expired warrants

iii In conjunction with item ii above under IFRS the Company also recorded transactions relating to income tax provisions relating

to the expired warrants

Deficit

All above adjustments were recorded against the opening deficit The total net impact on the reported deficit at each of the

reporting dates reflected as follows

December31 January

2010 2010

Net impact of all IFRS transitional adjustments 12929 19079

Total adjustment at transition to IFRS 12929 19079

24 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Capital Lease Facility

Subsequent to year end the Company established $15.0 million capital lease facility to fund equipment for the LDI mine expansion of

which $11.1 million has been utilized

Closure of Sleeping Giant Mine

The Company announced on January 17 2012 that it is discontinuing production at the Sleeping Giant mine due to its insufficient operating

margin The Company has therefore ceased mining operations at Sleeping Giant and has restructured the gold division resulting in non

cash impairment charge on its gold assets of $49.2 million
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